LEBANESE AMERICAN UNIVERSITY

Genome-wide Antibiotic Resistance and Virulence Profiling of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Isolated from Clinical Samples in Lebanon

By

Cynthia P. Harb

A thesis

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Molecular Biology

School of Arts and Sciences April 2017



School of Arts and Sciences; Byblos Campus

THESIS APPROVAL FORM

Student Name: <u>Cynthia Harb</u> I.D. #: <u>201002678</u> Thesis Title : Genome-wide Antibiotic Resistance and Virulence Probling of Pseudomonal aeruginosa Tsolated from Clinical Samples in Lebanon. Program: M.S. in Molecular Biblogy Department: Natural Sciences school: Arts and Sciences

The undersigned certify that they have examined the final electronic copy of this thesis and approved it in Partial Fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of:

H. Sc in the major of Holecular Biology

25/4/2017 Thesis Advisor's Name Sima Tokenter Signatur Committee Member's Name Roy Khalat Date 25/4/17 Committee Member's Name Tarck Nawge Date 25/4/17



THESIS COPYRIGHT RELEASE FORM

LEBANESE AMERICAN UNIVERSITY NON-EXCLUSIVE DISTRIBUTION LICENSE

By signing and submitting this license, you (the author(s) or copyright owner) grants the Lebanese American University (LAU) the non-exclusive right to reproduce, translate (as defined below), and/or distribute your submission (including the abstract) worldwide in print and electronic formats and in any medium, including but not limited to audio or video. You agree that LAU may, without changing the content, translate the submission to any medium or format for the purpose of preservation. You also agree that LAU may keep more than one copy of this submission for purposes of security, backup and preservation. You also agree that the submission is your original work, and that you have the right to grant the rights contained in this license. You also represent that the your submission does not, to the best of your knowledge, infringe upon anyone's copyright. If the submission contains material for which you do not hold copyright, you represent that you have obtained the unrestricted permission of the copyright owner to grant LAU the rights required by this license, and that such third-party owned material is clearly identified and acknowledged within the text or content of the submission. IF THE SUBMISSION IS BASED UPON WORK THAT HAS BEEN SPONSORED OR SUPPORTED BY AN AGENCY OR ORGANIZATION OTHER THAN LAU, YOU REPRESENT THAT YOU HAVE FULFILLED ANY RIGHT OF REVIEW OR OTHER OBLIGATIONS REQUIRED BY SUCH CONTRACT OR AGREEMENT. LAU will clearly identify your name(s) as the author(s) or owner(s) of the submission, and will not make any alteration, other than as allowed by this license, to your submission.

Name: Curthia Harb	
Signature:	
Date: 25/04/2017	2 1 1



PLAGIARISM POLICY COMPLIANCE STATEMENT

I certify that:

- 1. I have read and understood LAU's Plagiarism Policy.
- 2. I understand that failure to comply with this Policy can lead to academic and disciplinary actions against me.
- 3. This work is substantially my own, and to the extent that any part of this work is not my own I have indicated that by acknowledging its sources.

Name: Cynthia Harb	
Signature:	
Date: 25/04/2017	

To my loving parents, I dedicate this work...

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

Above all, I am wholeheartedly thankful to my supervisor, Dr. Sima Tokajian, for helping me reach where I stand today. It is very difficult to express how much I appreciate your continuous support, guidance, wisdom and encouragement. Not only have you been a mentor to me, but also a very dear friend. If I rise to the heights of success, I will eternally be grateful to you.

I would like to direct my thanks to all the faculty members that have been part of my six year journey at Lebanese American University. I also extend my recognition to my committee members, Dr. Roy Khalaf and Dr. Tarek Nawas, for their contribution to my thesis work. I offer my sincerest recognition to Ms. Helena Bou Farah and Ms. Maya Farah for their valuable help throughout my undergraduate and graduate years.

I am considerably thankful to my dearest colleagues, Ms. Christel Dagher, Ms. Tina Panossian, Mrs. Natalia Abou Zaki and Mrs. Tamara Salloum, for their love, motivational support and for making warm memories at LAU.

Last but not least, words are not enough to express my gratitude and appreciation for my parents and my brother who have always been there for me no matter what and constantly inspired me to pursue my dreams. I cannot thank you enough.

Genome-wide Antibiotic Resistance and Virulence Profiling of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Isolated from Clinical Samples in Lebanon

Cynthia P. Harb

ABSTRACT

Extensively drug resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa (XDR) are a great worldwide public health concern. P. aeruginosa is a Gram-negative opportunistic pathogen associated with a broad range of infections. It causes acute skin, lung, urinary tract infections and sepsis. It can also cause chronic infections in the pulmonary passages of individuals with cystic fibrosis. P. aeruginosa is widespread in nature lurking on diverse habitats including animals, plants, soil, in-animate objects and hospital settings. In this study, 18 P. aeurginosa clinical isolates were collected from the American University of Beirut Medical Center in Lebanon and were used for identification, phylogenetic analysis and detection of porin (oprL, oprI and oprD), efflux pumps (mexA, mexC and mexE) and exotoxin genes (exoU and exoS). Illumina paired-end libraries for twelve representative isolates were prepared and sequenced. The initial assemblies produced an average genome size of 6.8 Mb, G+C% content of 65.90-66.30% and 116-396 contigs. In silico MLST typing revealed that the isolates belonged to six MLST types: ST-233, ST-235, ST-296, ST-654, ST-1182 and ST-1233. Antimicrobial susceptibility testing showed that all except PA43, were XDR. Genomic analysis revealed the presence of several β -lactamases encoding genes (bla_{PAO}, bla_{OXA-50}, bla_{OXA-4}, bla_{IMP-15}, bla_{GES-1} and/or bla_{VIM-2} genes) and the aac(6')Ibcr gene conferring aminoglycoside resistance. Additionally, all the 18 isolates carried mexC and mexE conferring ciprofloxacin resistance. exoS and exoU toxing encoding genes were detected in 56% and 39% of the isolates, respectively, and phiCTX was the most common detected plasmid in this study. In this study the comparative analysis of P. aeruginosa genomes isolated from clinical samples in Lebanon, revealed many antibiotic resistance and virulence factor genes, a large number of genes that are involved in regulation, catabolism, transport, and efflux of organic compounds contributing to the remarkable ability of this bacterium to adapt to a wide range of environmental niches. The emergence and spread of XDR *P. aeruginosa*, which constitute a therapeutic problem of serious concern, emphasize the importance of having effective laboratory detection systems and infection control measures.

Keywords: *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, Next-generation sequencing, Genome wide analysis, Resistance, XDR, Virulence, Efflux pumps, Lebanon.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter	Page
INTRODUCTION	1
LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1. Overview on Pseudomonas aeruginosa	3
2.2. Resistance	4
2.2.1. Epidemiology of Resistance	4
2.2.2. Intrinsic Resistance Mechanisms of P. aeruginosa	4
2.2.3. Acquired Resistance	5
2.2.4. Adaptive Resistance	6
2.3. Virulence Regulatory Systems of P. aeruginosa	8
2.3.1. Quorum Sensing	8
2.3.3. Biofilm Formation	10
MATERIALS AND METHODS	
3.1. Clinical Isolates	15
3.2. DNA Extraction	15
3.3. Genome Sequencing	15
3.4. PCR Assays	16
3.4.1. Detection of Outer Membrane Protein Encoding Genes	16
3.4.2. Detection of Efflux Pump Encoding Genes	16
3.5. Antibiotic Susceptibility Test	17
3.6. Analysis of Sequencing Results	17
3.6.1. Genome Assembly	17
3.6.2. Genome Annotation Using RAST	17
3.6.3. Determination of Resistance Genes	17
3.6.4. Multi-Locus Sequence Typing (MLST) and Plasmid Detection	18
3.7. Phage Detection	18
3.8. Phylogenetic Tree Construction	18
3.9. Circular Genomes	18
RESULTS	
4.1. Sequencing Results	19
4.1.1. Genome Assembly Data	19
4.1.2. Virulence Determinants	21
4.2. Antimicrobial Susceptibility Test	23

4.2.1. Antibiotic Resistance	25
4.2.2. Extensive Drug Resistance (XDR) Patterns	30
4.3. Prevalence of Porins, Efflux Pumps and Exotoxin Encoding Genes	31
4.4. Phages and Mobile Elements	33
4.5. Phylogenetic Analysis	35
4.6. Comparative Circular Genomes	36
DISCUSSION	
5.1. Multi Locus Sequence Typing (MLST)	40
5.2. Virulence	42
5.3. Antibiotic resistance	44
5.4. Phages	47
5.5. Phylogenetic Analysis	48
5.6. Future Works	48
CONCLUSION	50
BIBLIOGRAPHY	52
ANNEX I	67
6.1. Circular Images	67

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1-	Genomic features of <i>P. aeruginosa</i> strains19
2-	MLST types and profiles of the 12 sequenced P. aeruginosa isolates along
	with their site of isolation/infection20
3-	Virulence genes of <i>P. aeruginosa</i> strains21
4-	Antimicrobial activity of P. aeruginosa tested against antimicrobial agents by
	disk diffusion method (R: Resistant; I: Intermediary Resistant; S:
	Sensitive)
5-	Antimicrobial resistance determinants of the 12 sequenced P. aeruginosa
	isolates
6-	Extensive drug resistance patterns of the P. aeruginosa clinical isolates
	against antimicrobial agents
7-	PCR products detecting the presence (+) or absence (-) of oprI, oprL, oprD,
	mexA, mexC, mexE, exoS and exoU genes among the 18 P. aeruginosa
	clinical isolates
8-	Phages detected in the sequenced genomes

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
1-	Subsystem category distribution of PA59 based on SEED databases20
2-	Histogram showing the percentage of resistant, intermediary resistant and
	sensitive isolates to each tested antimicrobial agents
3-	Maximum likelihood tree generated using PhyloSift35
4-	Circular map of <i>P. aerugiosa</i> PA59 genome37
5-	Comparative circular map of P. aeruginosa PA59 genome BLASTed against
	the genome of reference strain PAO1

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AHLs: N-acyl-homoserine lactones

AK: amikacin

AQs: 2-alkyl-4 quinolones

asRNAs: antisense RNAs

ATM: aztreonam

AUBMC: American University of Beirut Medical Center

BEL-: Belgium metallo-β-lactamase

CAR: carbencilin

CAZ: ceftazidime

CC: clonal complex

CDS: coding sequence

CF: cystic fibrosis

CGE: Center for Genomic Epidemiology

CI: ciproflaxin

CLSI: Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute

CST: colistin

ESBLs: extended spectrum β -lactamases

FDA: Food and Drug Adminstration

GM: gentamicin

HHQ: 2-heptyl-4-quinolone

HK: histidine kinase

IPM: imipenem

MBL: metallo- β -lactamase

- **MBLs**: mannose-binding lectins
- **MDR**: multiple drug resistance
- MLST: multi-locus sequence typing
- NCCLS: The National Committee for Clinical Laboratory Standards
- **ORF:** open reading frame
- **OXA-:** active on oxacillin metallo-β-lactamase
- PA: Pseudomonas aeruginosa
- PAO1: Pseudomonas aeruginosa strain O1
- PCR: polymerase chain reaction
- PDR: pan-drug resistance
- **PER-:** *Pseudomonas* extended resistance metallo-β-lactamase
- PMN: polymorphonuclear neutrophilic
- **PQS**: 2-heptyl-3-hydroxy-4-quinolone
- **PSE:** Pseudomonas-specific enzyme
- **QS**: quorum sensing
- rgRNAs: regulatory RNAs
- **RR**: response regulator
- **SNP:** single-nucleotide polymorphism
- **SPM-:** São Paulo MBL metallo-β-lactamase
- **ST**: sequence type
- **TCS**: two-component regulatory systems
- **TE**: tetracycline

TM: tobramycin

TSA: Tryptic soy agar

TX: ceftriaxone

TZP: piperacillin/tazobactam

T3SS: type III secretion system

VIM: Verona-integron-encoded

XDR: extensively drug-resistant

Chapter One

INTRODUCTION

Pseudomonas member of the family aeruginosa, а Pseudomonadaceae, is considered to be a leading opportunistic pathogen (Darch et al., 2015). P. aeruginosa is one of the most abundant microorganisms found in nature. Due to its widespread availability, it can increasingly interact with human hosts, which in turn results in countless serious infections in the hospital settings and environment (Snyder et al., 2013). This life-threatening Gram-negative bacterium can cause a wide range of acute infections such as burns, lungs, urinary tract and wound infections and can also contribute to chronic infections in the lungs of patients with cystic fibrosis (Wong et al., 2012; Snyder et al., 2013), which are linked to the high rate of mortality and morbidity associated with this disease (Marvig et al., 2013).

The switch from an acute infection to a chronic infection is regulated by various mechanisms. These mechanisms control the ability of *P. aeruginosa* to: grow, accumulate and colonize the airway passages, grow in the form of biofilms, and control host gene expression through quorum sensing (QS). It also resists various antibacterial drugs due to its acquired, adaptive and intrinsic resistance mechanisms, rendering associated infections to be difficult to combat and eradicate (Darch et al., 2015; Kim et al., 2011). Most *P. aeroginosa* strains are extremely resistant to the fourth-generation cephalosporins, β -lactam drugs and many others, with some strains still exhibiting susceptibility to colistin and amikacin (Kos et al., 2014).

Consequently, it is of major importance to determine and thoroughly study the antibiotic resistance profiles of *P. aeruginosa* local strains with the purpose of precisely identifying the antimicrobial drug of choice and treatment measures to combat pseudomonal infections. All genetic elements and factors pertaining to antimicrobial drug resistance must be identified via molecular tests (Bentzmann et al., 2011). In addition to antibiotic resistance control and surveillance, the highthroughput whole genome sequencing (WGS) approach is useful in analyzing the potential adaptation and evolution of *P. aeruginosa* over time (Snyder et al., 2013; Koser et al., 2014).

The overall objectives of this study are stated as follows:

- To compare the differences that exist between the *P. aeruginosa* local isolates
- To determine the evolutionary dynamics of *P. aeruginosa* local strains in terms of genome plasticity
- To determine the presence of resistance (*mexA*, *mexC*, *mexE* and *oprD*) and virulence genes (*exoS* and *exoU*) through PCR assays and compare to those identified from high-throughput sequencing
- To identify intrinsic resistance including mutations in the *ftsK* gene, which affects cell division and *ampG* gene, which is responsible for βlactamase production
- To detect the presence of the AmpR β -lactamase regulator for positive regulation of the QS virulence genes
- To screen the *P. aeruginosa* genomes for the presence of the type III secretion system effectors
- To correlate antibiotic resistance to the presence of *mexA*, *mexC* and *mexE* efflux pump genes
- To construct a pylogenetic tree using whole-genome sequencing data

Chapter Two

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. Overview on Pseudomonas aeruginosa

P. aeruginosa is a clinically important aerobic, rod-shaped Gram-negative bacterium. The length of this opportunistic pathogen varies from approximately 1 μ m to 5 μ m, and the width ranges from about 0.5 μ m to 1 μ m (Sedighi et al., 2015). It grows as a distinct greenish-blue colony due to the production of pycocanin pigment (Gellatly & Hancock, 2013), with high phenotypic diversity ranging from motile to non-motile and mucoid to non-mucoid (Workentine et al., 2013). It has the ability to thrive in a variety of habitats due to the fact that it requires nominal nutrient concentrations. It is ubiquitous in soil, plants, animals and on inanimate surfaces (Nasreen et al., 2015). It's also found but to a lower extent on the skin and in the gastrointestinal tracts of humans (Sedighi et al., 2015).

It is characterized by having a mosaic genome with 90% of its genes or more encompassing the conserved core region. Strains are differentiated by a specific set of genes disrupting the conserved core. These segments, which are strain-specific, are found in the genome plasticity regions at limited chromosomal positions. This suggests that the genome among diverse pseudomonal strains is highly conserved despite the fact that some genomic islands have been encountered (Bentzmann & Plesait, 2011). *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 was the first strain to be sequenced, and its genome is composed of a circular chromosome of 6.264 Mb and includes 5570 protein coding sequences. Subsequently, other strains were sequenced including: PA14, LESB58 and PA7 (Klockgether et al., 2011). *P. aeruginosa* PA7 whole genome sequence has been studied as a taxonomic outlier consisting of 6,588,339 bp. It contains 51 genome plasticity regions and several genomic islands, and showed 95% similarity match compared to other isolates (Roy et al., 2010).

2.2. Resistance

P. aeruginosa can be characterized as being a multi-drug resistant, extensively-drug resistant or pan-drug resistant bacterium having several intrinsic resistance mechanisms rendering several antibiotics to be ineffective. (MDR: non-susceptible to ≥ 1 agent in ≥ 3 antimicrobial categories; XDR: non-susceptible to ≥ 1 agent in all but ≥ 2 categories; PDR: non-susceptible to all antimicrobial agents). (Bonomo et al., 2006; Livermore, 2002, Magiarakos et al., 2011).

2.2.1. Epidemiology of Resistance

In the past 20 years, *P. aeruginosa* has progressively become more resistant to carbapenem, fluoroquinolone and third-generation cephalosporin treatments (Flamm et al., 2004). Upon the beginning of anti-pseudomonal treatment, intubated patients in critical care units can become multi-drug resistant in a period as short as ten days. Also, strains that are found to be resistant to ciprofloxacin and piperacillin show increasing degrees of resistance to other antimicrobial drugs compared to strains that are sensitive to ciprofloxacin and piperacillin (Sun et al., 2011).

2.2.2. Intrinsic Resistance Mechanisms of P. aeruginosa

The most important resistance mechanism within *P. aeruginosa* is the low permeability of its outer membrane which functions as a selective barrier reducing antibiotic uptake. The outer membrane of *P. aueroginosa* is characterized by the presence of an insufficient number of its major small porin channels OprF, and inefficient number of porins specific for the uptake of antibiotics such as OprB and OprD (Gellatly & Hancock, 2013). There are additional pathways for antibiotic uptake across the cell such as: hydrophobic molecule uptake through the phospholipid bilayer and self-driven polycationic antibiotic passage (Breidenstein et al., 2011). Resistance could be also due to rapid efflux, which is caused by the upregulation of efflux pumps expression, and the production of AmpC β -lactamases benefiting from the slow passage as a result of lower outer membrane permeability (Gellatly & Hancock, 2013).

Another intrinsic resistance mechanism is the simultaneous involvement of numerous unrelated genes and various mutations in the resistome of *P. aeruginosa*. Intrinsic resistance to ciprofloxacin and β -lactams is prevalent in strains that have

mutations in the *ftsK gene* which affects cell division, while resistance to β -lactams is linked to mutations in the gene *ampG*, which is responsible for β -lactamase production. Therefore, the increased intrinsic resistance to most antibacterial drugs is attributed to the synchronized action of multiple mechanisms (Breidenstein et al., 2011).

2.2.3. Acquired Resistance

Acquired resistance is directly related to the reduced susceptibility of *P. aeruginosa* and is divided into two forms: horizontal gene transfer and mutational resistance. Antibiotic resistance genes can be obtained via conjugation, transformation and transduction, and are carried on mobile genetic elements such as: plasmids, transposons and prophages. The presence of multiple antibiotic resistance genes on plasmids can result in multi-drug resistant strains. This is mostly the case with resistance to aminglycosides and β -lactams. Mutational resistance is another type of acquired resistance. Additionally, agents damaging genetic material and bacterial proliferation in biofilms increase the frequency of mutations (Blair et al., 2015).

Mutations that result in antibiotic uptake reduction, antibiotic target modification, β lactamase overproduction and efflux pump overexpression render *P. aeruginosa* insusceptible to antimicrobial treatment. One example of mutational resistance mechanism is associated with mutations in genes encoding *mexR* and *nfxB* resulting in efflux pumps MexAB-OprM and MexCD-OprJ derepression. A mutation in the gene encoding *mexZ* is involved in overexpression of MexXY-OprM resulting in resistance to aminoglycosides, fluoroquinolones and cefepimes. Resistance to the antibacterial drug imipenem results from mutation in OrpD, while resistance to a variety of antibiotics, including imipenem, is generated by *mexT* and *mexS* mutations, which boost the efflux pump MexEF-OprN and decrease OrpD expression. Mutational resistance is also linked to mutations in AmpD and AmpC β lactamase effectors, which leads to the increase in β -lactamase production (Breidenstein et al., 2011). Finally, fluoroquinolone resistance can also be attributed to mutations in gyrases (*gyrA* and *gyrB*) and topoisomerase IV (*parC* and *parE*) (Salma et al., 2012).

Therefore, accumulation of mutations can cause increased resistance. Creeping baselines is a step-wise process that converts low-level resistance to increased high-

level resistance through the combination of multiple mutations in due course. For example, three mutations in three distinct genes revealed an increase in tobramycin resistance by two times. However, resistance was augmented to 16-fold with the addition of a forth mutation (Breidenstein et al., 2011). An example of this is seen in aminoglycoside resistance, which includes mutations in diverse genes that encode DNA duplication, energy metabolism and lipopolysaccharide production. Fluoroquinolone resistance, on the other hand, is mediated by mutations in genes that encode efflux pump regulators, iron transport, and prophage. Thus, acquired resistance to a set of antibacterial drugs can occur due to numerous mutations in distinct genes (Mortita et al., 2015; Poole & McKay, 2003).

2.2.4. Adaptive Resistance

Bacteria develop adaptive resistance as a consequence of prolonged antibiotic treatment or the presence of a stimulus. Adaptive resistance is attained by a vast number of stimuli and conditions including: anaerobiosis, antibiotics, biocides, biofilm formation, cations, carbon resources, polyamines and swarming (Gellatly & Hancock, 2013). Such factors act by influencing the genes that control efflux pumps, enzymes and lipopolysaccharides. Adaptive resistance is pivotal in *P. aeruginosa* because its genome consists of a large percentage of regulatory genes. It is capable of resisting antibiotic action due to sub-inhibitory antibiotic dosage and environmental stimuli that modulate its gene expression (Fernandez & Hancock, 2012).

Aminoglycosides and polymyxins belong to polycationic antimicrobials, which undergo self-driven uptake across the bacterial outer membrane by attaching to specific binding sites on the lipopolysaccharide (Breidenstein et al., 2011). Their passage is limited by the action of *arnBCADTEF* operon, which allows the binding of 4-aminoarabinose to Lipid A. Minimal amounts of divalent cations lead to polycationic antimicrobial resistance. This mechanism involves the introduction of the *arn* operon and the activation of PhoPQ and PmrAB regulatory systems. The function of the *arn* operon is reducing cation amounts upon stimulation in biofilms (Poole, 2011). PhoPQ and PmrAB control the lipolysaccharide modification *arnBCADTEFpmrE* operon in order to achieve resistance against cationic antimicrobial peptides and polymyxin B under conditions of depleted cation concentration (Balasubramanian et al., 2012).

Another important mechanism of adaptive resistance involves the production of AmpC β -lactamases. β -lactamases inactivate β -lactam drugs. Upon the introduction of β -lactamases, cefotaxime, ceftazidime and penicillins can longer be used to effectively treat *P. aeruginosa* associated infections, as their main mode of action relies on *ampC* gene upregulation (Fernandez & Hancock, 2012).

The excessive expression of efflux pump genes is another means of adaptive resistance which is induced due to antibiotic sub-inhibitory dosages. MexXY efflux pump genes are overexpressed by the introduction of aminoglycosides. This results in adaptive resistance due to the quick outward flow of the aminoglycoside conferring multi-drug restistance (Fernandez & Hancock, 2012). This is observed in bacterial colonies growing in biofilms, where resistance is achieved through several mechanisms (Hoiby et al., 2010). One way includes mutation in the quorum sensing regulatory network resulting in the increased expression of genes that encode efflux pumps and enzymes. Another mode of resistance involves varying amounts of nutrient uptake causing diversity in the metabolic activities of different isolates (Breidenstein et al., 2011). Bacterial cells found in the interior of the growing biofilm are more likely to be metabolically inactive, while the bacterial cells found on the surface of the biofilm grow much faster, hence different antibiotics target different biofilm areas. Polymyxins target the interior cells, while β -lactams and aminoglycosides only affect the external layer. Biofilms, in addition, are described as being rich in persister cells with a lower percentage of planktonic cells. Persister cells are capable of surviving the harsh conditions of antibiotic pressure due to their slow growing nature, with little being known about the mechanism (Poole, 2011).

A particular type of movement carried out by *P. aeruginosa* is called swarming, and is unrelated to flagella-mediated swimming and pilus-mediated twitching. Dysregulation in more than 400 genes involved in adaptation, metabolic pathways, motility, regulation and secretion causes pseudomonal swarming in the lungs owing to its viscous nature and poor nitrogen availability. *lasB* and *pvdQ* are two virulence genes that are most needed for swarming (Overhage et al., 2008). Isolates that move by swarming are usually more resistant to a variety of antimicrobial drugs. They also carry numerous virulence factors, genes and toxins. Adaptive resistance occurs in swarming cells by the dysregulation of a sensor kinase, PhoQ, which is mediated by two swarming regulators, Lon and CbrA (Poole, 2011; Sampedro et al., 2014).

Tokajian et al. (2012) studied the resistance pattern of 100 *P. aeruginosa* isolates collected mainly from tracheal aspirates, urine, sputum, pus and wounds. The study revealed that 25% of the isolates were resistant to impenem and pipercillin-tozabactam, while 29% were resistant to ceftazidime. Resistance was measured against the antibiotics mostly used in Lebanon to treat pseudomonal infections (Tokajian et al., 2012). On the other hand, Salma et al. (2012) reported that resistance to fluoroquinolones was due to one or more mutations in DNA gyrases and topoisomerase IV specifically in the *gyrA* and *parC* genes. Resistance to carbapenems was also detected in the Mediterranean region and was mainly linked to the production of carbapenemases (VIM-2 and IMP-15) and mutations in the *oprD* gene (Al Bayssari et al., 2014). Carbapenem resistant strains harboring the VIM-2 carbapenemase have disseminated into livestock animals in Lebanon posing a threat on humans (AL Bayssari et al., 2015).

2.3. Virulence Regulatory Systems of P. aeruginosa

2.3.1. Quorum Sensing

Quorum sensing (QS) is a mechanism used by bacteria to control the expression of different genes, during which bacterial cells synthesize small molecules called autoinducers. These molecules allow the continued existence of the bacterial cells upon diffusion when a certain concentration is met. The main reason behind utilizing the QS mechanism is to control the synthesis of virulence contributing factors including production of biofilms, expression of efflux pumps and motility. *P. aeruginosa* uses the QS system by means of two autoinducers: AHLs (*N*-acylhomoserine lactones) and AQs (2-alkyl-4 quinolones) (Lee & Zhang, 2014).

2.3.1.1. AHL-mediated QS

The *las* and *rhl* systems are two AHL-mediated QS systems. *lasI* and *rhlI* lead to the activation of a family of regulators, LuxR, LasR or RhlR, by binding to them, resulting in multimer interactions due to their AHL occurrence (Balasubramanian et al., 2012).

2.3.1.2. AQ-mediated QS

PQS (2-heptyl-3-hydroxy-4-quinolone) and HHQ (2-heptyl-4-quinolone) are two AQ-mediated QS signals. Both of them allow the binding of the *pqsABCDE* operon promoter to LysR transcription regulator, MvfR. Hence, both PQS and HHQ act as effectors of MvfR. Because it is capable of sequestering iron molecules, PQS can influence the Fur regulon expression and can synthesize vesicles through membrane conformational changes. However, PmpR is a negative regulator of MvfR and is a YebC component (Gellatly & Hancock, 2013).

2.3.1.3. QS Regulation

QS genes are adjusted by global regulators such as the RpoS (Lee & Zhang, 2014). *lasR* and *rhlR* are modulated by RpoS. Another main global regulator is RsaL which plays a pivotal role in *las* signaling, regulates the expression of approximately 130 genes, specifically hydrogen cyanide and pyocyanin genes which are involved in AHL-related virulence repression, and is also implicated in the conversion from a planktonic status to a sessile status. CzcR is another regulator that binds to the promoter of *lasI* allowing *lasI*, *rhlI* and *rhlR* expression resulting in decreased susceptibility to carbapenems and heavy metals (Balasubramanian et al., 2012).

VqsR is another major regulator inhibiting QscR, the LuxR regulator, which in turn controls QS. QscR binds to LasR and RhlR and is required for the homeostasis of LasI (Liang et al., 2012). At the post-transcriptional level, LasR and RhlR are destabilized by the action of QteE. However, the QS threshold concentration, which is necessary for specific QS gene activation, drops to zero when *qteE* is absent. AHL amounts also drop upon subsequent activity of RsmA which is known for its negative effect on *rhl* and *las* pathways. Conversely, a positive regulator of *rhlI* is the RNA chaperone Hfq (Balasubramanian et al., 2012).

The most recent global regulator is the AmpR β -lactamase regulator, which positively regulates the QS genes (Balasubramanian et al., 2012). *P. aeruginosa* strains that do not harbor AmpR produce a very minute quantity of QS related virulence determinants, mainly LasA and LasB proteases and pycocanin. AmpR is

involved in preserving *P. aeruginosa* infections at the acute level and controlling non- β -lactam resistance (quinolones and aminoglycosides) (Kumari et al., 2014) by repressing efflux pump MexEF-OprN activity, production of biofilms, AlgT/U alignate regulator, expression of QS genes and production of pycocanin (Balasubramanian et al., 2012).

2.3.2. Two-Component Regulatory Systems

TCS are two-component regulatory systems implicated in cellular signaling. TCS consists of two constituents: a cytoplasmic response regulator (RR) and an integral membrane sensory histidine kinase (HK). A conserved acceptor domain and a variable donor domain compromise the RR (Balasubramanian et al., 2012). The HK C-terminal domain consists of a catalytic domain, a dimerization domain and a conserved histidine molecule. The HK utilizes its N-terminal domain in order to sense particular stimuli. The signaling process involves the dimerization of two HK molecules followed by phosphorelation at the histidine molecule. This occurs when the HK residues receive a signal. The receiver domain of RR accepts the phosphate and aids in its catalysis. The phosphate is added to its aspartate residue. This causes the donor domain, which often binds to DNA, to undergo a conformational change affecting the level of gene expression (Bentzmann & Plesait, 2011).

P. aeruginosa is characterized by having a great number of TCS proteins. The ability of *P. aeruginosa* to control its antibiotic resistance, metabolic activities and virulence is contributed to the vast amount of TCS proteins available. GacSA is the most important TCS protein found in *P. aerurginosa*, which is responsible for converting an acute infection into a chronic infection. It also has a major role in the formation of biofilms, expression of virulence factors, metabolites and QS. Antibacterial drug resistance to ciprofloxacin, tetracycline and tobramycin is achieved by GacSA through the action of RsmA/rgRsmZ (Balasubramanian et al., 2013). The binary interaction of two additional TCSs in P. aeruginosa, PhoPQ and PmrAB, has a considerable effect on its virulence.

2.3.3. Biofilm Formation

P. aeruginosa isolates grow rapidly in biofilms, which generally occurs in patients with cystic fibrosis. Its increased resistance to a variety of antimicrobial drugs and to the immune system defense mechanisms results from its ability to form biofilms. Its

expanded resistance is mainly due to the presence of biofilm persister cells, which are produced by *algR* and *pilH genes* (Mulcahy et al., 2010; Poole, 2011). The process of biofilm cell lysis is achieved by the QS system, producing extracellular DNA required for bacterial biofilm formation. Rhamnolipid production is also controlled by the QS system, which generates the cap part of the biofilm mushroom. Rhamnolipid also preserves the channels of the mature biofilms and assists in biofilm movement (Harmsen et al., 2010).

2.3.4. Alginate Production

When switching from an acute infection to a chronic infection, the phenotype of *P. aeruginosa* isolates found in a patient suffering from cystic fibrosis changes from non-mucoid to mucoid cells with overproduction of alginate (Gellatly & Hancock, 2013). The lung foci are the restricted areas invaded by the chronic infection, and lung tissue are seriously damaged as a result of these foci disrupting regular lung activity. The microorganism is shielded from the action of antimicrobial drugs and phagocytosis owing to the synthesis of alignate (Bjarnsholt et al., 2010). However, this mucoid phenotype appears after antibiotics, hydrogen peroxide and leucocytes are given to eliminate the biofilm (Balasubramanian et al., 2012).

The chief factor in alginate production is the σ factor AlgT/U. MucA and MucB are two anti- σ factors that inhibit σ factor AlgT/U at the post-transcription level. When MucA and MucB lose their activity via mutations, mucoid cells appear. This takes place when a coordinated proteolytic pathway leads to the detachment of MucA from σ factor AlgT/U (Damron & Goldberg, 2012). The connection between alginate synthesis and antimicrobial drug resistance is AmpR. AmpR also negatively controls the expression of algT/U by interacting with QS. However, since it is a complex process, AlgT/U needs to regulate the action of several transcription regulators simultaneously (Balasubramanian et al., 2011).

2.3.5. Iron Uptake Regulation

The presence of iron is very vital, where toxic oxygen reactive species are created in response to a surplus of iron molecules. In order to find iron and bind to it, bacteria develop siderophores such as: pyochelin and pyoverdine. *P. aeruginosa* also utilizes a ferric uptake regulator called Fur, with its main function being to bind to the Fur

box to regulate the iron regulon and control other regulator expressions (Cornelis, 2010).

The expression of *P. aeruginosa* virulence factors are affected by the iron concentration. The correlation between the amount of iron and the expression of virulence factors is related to PvdS. PvdS regulates pyoverdine and pyoverdine receptor synthesis and PrpL and exotoxin A virulence factors, hence linking iron to virulence. In addition, lactoferrin prevents biofilm formation showing that iron plays a major role in the process. However, formation of biofilms is determined by the concentration of iron in the cell, but formation of biofilms is inhibited with superior iron amounts (Jimenez et al., 2012).

Minute concentrations of iron improve the functions of the QS systems. What the QS system regulators do is that they activate transcription by controlling an iron responsive gene, MvfR, when iron concentrations are minimal. Furthermore, the synthesis of PQS is positively regulated by small RNA molecules which are negatively regulated by Fur. Pyochelin and pyoverdine can more easily search for iron molecules in the cell due to PQS chelating iron (Balasubramanian et al., 2012).

2.3.6. Toxins and Exoproteins

Toxins and exoproteins strongly contribute to the virulence of *P. aeruginosa*. It contains a total of five secretion systems out of seven with numerous toxins. Of utmost importance is the type III secretion system. The type III secretion system injects ExoS, ExoT, ExoU and ExoY bacterial effector proteins directly into the host cell cytoplasm. Strains that contain ExoS and ExoU are more likely to be multi-drug resistant. Specifically, isolates that are ExoS positive can result in reduced DNA production, while isolates that are ExoU positive have the ability to combat the eukaryotic immune system. Besides, severe lung infections are associated with the presence of ExoS, which can lead to chronic disruption of the respiratory tract (Kipnis et al., 2012). Strains that harbor toxin genes are characterized by increasing the severity of the disease and symptoms, and are treated with anti-pseudomonal drugs resulting in drug resistance (Wong-Beringer et al., 2008).

2.3.7. Regulatory RNAs

In *P. aeruginosa*, regulatory RNAs (rgRNAs) are a necessary factor for the expression of virulence genes. rgRsmY and rgRsmZ are two important rgRNAs, which are required for the alteration from an acute infection into a chronic one. These two rgRNAs are positively regulated by GacA TCS, which proceeds by sequestering RsmA (RNA-binding protein) resulting in virulence factor expression dysregulation (Bentzamann & Plesait, 2011).

Additionally, translation can be inhibited by the action of antisense sRNAs (asRNAs) in *P. aeruginosa* strains by interacting with mRNAs. The expression of pyocyanin and PQS are influenced by asPhrS, an example of an asRNA. As mentioned previously, iron uptake is regulated by small RNA molecules, specifically, asRNAs which include asPrrF and asPrrF2. At conditions of high iron concentrations, Fur inhibits the two asRNAs. However, at conditions of iron-depletion, Fur activates the two asRNAs, which, interact with the mRNA of target genes such as superoxide dismutase *sodB* gene. Therefore, iron uptake, carbon metabolism and virulence work in synchrony due to regulation by asPrrF1 and asPrrF2. asPrrH is an additional asRNA regulating virulence mechanisms in *P. aeruginosa* which is activated at low iron concentrations (Balasubramanian et al., 2012).

2.4. Multi-drug Resistant P. aeruginosa Treatment

The antibiotic treatment needed for full eradication of this deadly pathogen is challenging due to the multiple antibiotic resistance mechanisms that it possesses. The most effective treatment determined is the use of an anti-pseudomonal β -lactam drug along with an aminoglycoside, or the use of an anti-pseudomonal β -lactam drug along with an anti-pseudomonal quinolone. However, it was suggested that β -lactams should be utilized more frequently than quinolones since β -lactam antibiotics were more effective in combating this microorganism. Developing resistance to quinolones is a much faster process. The optimum treatment involves one dosage of aminoglycoside antibiotic per day over a period of a maximum of five days. In some situations in intensive care units, polymyxins such as colistin are used as a last choice (Sun, 2011).

Antibiotic treatment can be replaced by other therapeutics such as bacteriophage treatment. In general, bacteriophages increase in number at the site of bacterial

infection, act on the bacterium of choice regardless of the normal flora and can interact with the antibiotic resistant bacteria. These are the three key differences between bacteriophage treatment and antibiotic treatment. Upon administration of bacteriophage treatment into the respiratory tract by nebulization, bacteriophages can stimulate host phagocytes to kill the pathogenic bacteria limiting their ability to initiate an infection in the lungs in cases of cystic fibrosis (Debarbieux et al., 2010).

2.5. High-throughput Whole Genome Sequencing

Before the discovery of the whole genome sequencing (WGS) approach, information on bacterial phylogeny was limited, and relationships among different pathogens were lacking. The emergence of high-throughput WGS along with bioinformatics techniques such as multi-locus sequence typing (MLST) allows the construction of phylogenetic trees and identification of the genetic structures of bacterial species (Klemm & Dougan, 2016). High-throughput WGS also drove the development of SNP-based phylogenetic analysis which proved to be useful in determining the relationship between genetic diversity and different niches for pathogenic bacteria, hence uncovering the epidemiology of outbreaks in hospital settings. The feasibility of these technological advances has facilitated the development of transmission mapping while identifying pathogen diversity within the host. This means that WGS has allowed microbiologists to monitor bacterial evolution and investigate the spread of bacterial pathogens at different scales (globally, locally and within a single patient). It can also allow the identification of previously unknown microorganisms, virulence factors and antibiotic resistance determinants (Robinson et al., 2013). High-throughput WGS has also proved to be useful in the development of antimicrobial drugs and vaccines. By combining WGS with SNP-based analysis, novel antibiotic targets can be determined by comparing the SNPS in the genomes of a sensitive bacterial parent strain and a resistant bacterial daughter strain (Loman & Pallen, 2015). Thus, high-throughput sequencing promises to be an effective approach for identifying, screening and preventing future threats to public health (Koser et al., 2014).

Chapter Three

MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Clinical Isolates

Eighteen *P. aeurginosa* clinical isolates were collected from the American University Medical Center and were used for genome analysis. The isolates were recovered from bile, blood, catheter tip, sputum, tracheal-aspirate and urine, collected from nine females and nine males including two juniors (1-17 years), six adults (18-64 years) and ten seniors (>64 years). Isolates were designated as: PA3, PA5, PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28, PA 43, PA45, PA53, PA59, PA120, PA132, PA138, PA141, PA147, PA152, PA155 and PA177. All were cultured on Tryptic Soy Agar (TSA) (Bio-Rad, U.S.A) media at 37°C for 24-48 h.

3.2. DNA Extraction

Bacterial DNA was extracted using the NucleoSpin kit (MACHEREY-NAGEL, Germany) and following the manufacturer's instructions.

3.3. Genome Sequencing

The Qubit 3.0 fluorometer (Life technologies, Carlsbad, CA) was utilized for accurately quantifying the DNA concentrations. Genomic DNA was used as input for library preparation using the Illumina Nextera XT library preparation kit (Illumina, Inc., San Diego, CA). The Agencourt AMPure XP PCR purification beads (Agencourt, Brea, CA) were used to allow effective clean up after library preparation. With the use of the Kapa library quantification kit (Kapa Biosystems, Woburn, MA), the CFX96-PCR system (Bio-Rad, U.S.A) was utilized to quantify the DNA libraries. The Illumina MiSeq Desktop Sequencer was finally used to multiplex, cluster and sequence the pooled libraries with a minimum of 250 bp read length.

3.4. PCR Assays

3.4.1. Detection of Outer Membrane Protein Encoding Genes

PCR assays were performed using the following primers: oprI F (5'-ATGAACAACGTTCTGAAATTCTCTGCT-3') and R (5'oprI CTTGCGGCTGGCTTTTTCCAG-3') amplifying a 249 bp fragment of the oprI gene, oprL F (5'-ATGGAAATGCTGAAATTCGGC-3') and oprL R (5'-CTTCTTCAGCTCGACGCGACG) amplifying a 504 bp fragment of the oprL gene, (5'- CGCCGACAAGAAGAACTAGC-3') (5'oprD F and oprD R GTCGATTACAGGATCGACAG-3') amplifying a 1412 bp of the oprD gene (Adabi et al., 2015; Poonsuk et al., 2014). PCR mixture contained 2 µl of template DNA, 20 µM of each pair of primers, 25 mM MgCl₂, 2 mM dNTPs and PCR-grade sterile water achieving a final volume of 20 µL. The cycling conditions were: 1 cycle was set at 95°C for 12 min followed by 30 cycles at 94°C for 30 sec for denaturation, 1 cycle was set at 63°C for 30 sec for annealing and finally, 1 cycle was set at 72°C for 1 min followed by 1 cycle at 72°C for 10 min for elongation. The PCRs were performed on a thermal cycler (Bio-Rad).

3.4.2. Detection of Efflux Pump Encoding Genes

PCR assays were performed using the following primers: mexA F (5'-CGACCAGGCCGTGAGCAAGCAGC-3') and mexA R (5'-GGAGACCTTCGCCGCGTTGTCGC-3') amplifying a 316 bp fragment of the mexA gene, mexC F (5'- GTACCGGCGTCATGCAGGGTTC-3') and mexC R (5'-TTACTGTTGCGGCGCAGGTGACT-3') amplifying a 164 bp fragment of the mexC gene and mexE F (5'- CCAGGACCAGCACGAACTTCTTGC-3') and mexE R (5'- CGACAACGCCAAGGGCGAGTTCACC-3') amplifying a 114 bp fragment of mexE gene (Adabi et al., 2015; Llanes et al., 2004). PCR mixture contained 2 µl of template DNA, 20 µM of each pair of primers, 25 mM MgCl₂, 2 mM dNTPs and PCR-grade sterile water achieving a final volume of 20 µL. The cycling conditions were: 1 cycle was set at 95°C for 12 min followed by 30 cycles at 94°C for 30 sec for denaturation, 1 cycle was set at 63°C for 30 sec for annealing and finally, 1 cycle was set at 72°C for 1 min followed by 1 cycle at 72°C for 10 min for elongation. The PCRs were performed on a thermal cycler (Bio-Rad).

3.5. Antibiotic Susceptibility Test

Antibiotic susceptibility for the 18 pseudomonal strains was determined by the Kirby-Bauer disk agar diffusion method against 12 different antibiotics including: amikacin (AK), aztreonam (ATM), carbencilin (CAR), ceftazidime (CAZ), ceftriaxone (TX), ciproflaxin (CI), colistin (CST), gentamicin (GM), imipenem (IPM), piperacillin/tazobactam (TZP), tetracycline (TE) and tobramycin (TM). The bacterial-saline suspensions were adjusted to 0.5 Mcfarland standard. The test was performed on Mueller-Hinton agar followed by incubation at 37°C for 24 h. The Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) guidelines were used to determine the antibiotic resistance/susceptibility profiles for each respective antimicrobial drug (CLSI, 2013).

3.6. Analysis of Sequencing Results

3.6.1. Genome Assembly

De novo assembly was performed for the sequenced genomes by using the A5-miseq assembly pipeline (Tritt et al, 2012; Coil et al, 2015). The assembly was performed simultaneously with error correction, cleaning of data, control of quality and scaffolding (Tritt et al., 2012).

3.6.2. Genome Annotation Using RAST

The *de novo* genome assemblies were annotated using RAST (http://rast.nmpdr.org) (Aziz et al, 2012). Genes encoding rRNA, tRNA and proteins were determined. The specific functions of each gene and the interaction systems of each genome were also identified (Aziz et al., 2008; Overbeek et al., 2014).

3.6.3. Determination of Resistance Genes

The bacterial genomes were analyzed using The Center for Genomic Epidemiology (CGE) website (www.genomicepidemiology.org) along with the SEED viewer service. Genes encoding antibiotic resistance were identified by the ResFinder 2.1 web server (Zankari et al., 2012).

3.6.4. Multi-Locus Sequence Typing (MLST) and Plasmid Detection

The CGE website includes a MLST 1.7 server which was used to determine the MLST of each sequenced isolate (Larsen et al, 2012). The CGE website also has a PlasmidFinder 1.2 web service that was used for detecting plasmids (Carattoli et al, 2014).

3.7. Phage Detection

The Phage Search Tool (PHAST) was used to detect the presence of phage sequences. RAST was used subsequently to annotate the phage genes (Zhou et al., 2011).

3.8. Phylogenetic Tree Construction

Phylogenetic tree construction was generated using Phylosift. The maximum likelihood tree was then inferred using FigTree v1.4.3. Six reference genomes DK2, LESB58, M18, NCGM2.S1, PAO1 and UCBPP-PA14 were downloaded from NCBI.

3.9. Circular Genomes

Informative figures of the bacterial circular genomes were obtained using the DNAPlotter release 1.11 (Carver et al., 2009), while a comparative figure was generated using the CGView server (Grant & Stothard, 2008).

Chapter Four

RESULTS

4.1. Sequencing Results

4.1.1. Genome Assembly Data

Whole genome sequencing was performed on 12 out of the 18 clinical isolates. The average genome size ranged between 6,579,978-7,009,409 bp, G+C% content between 65.90-66.30%, number of contigs 116-396, subsystems 566-583, coding sequences 6082-6559 and RNAs 61-69 (Table 1).

Isolate	Total length (bp)	G+C%	No. of contigs	No. of subsystems	No. of coding sequence	No. of RNAs
PA9	6,848,493	66.11	247	579	6380	66
PA15	7,005,560	66.00	116	583	6559	62
PA16	7,007,890	66.00	125	583	6557	61
PA28	7,007,723	66.00	118	583	6566	61
PA43	6,647,372	66.30	189	574	6178	65
PA45	7,009,409	66.00	120	582	6559	61
PA59	6,756,856	66.14	171	573	6292	64
PA120	6,624,004	66.10	122	566	6089	65
PA132	6,984,014	65.90	139	576	6485	67
PA141	6,757,082	66.08	178	573	6328	66
PA152	7,001,596	65.90	396	580	6506	69
PA155	6,579,978	66.11	204	569	6082	63

Table 1: Genomic features of P. aeruginosa

Individual MLST types and profiles of the 12 isolates were also obtained, and the results showed that the sequenced isolates belonged to different sequence types with the most common being ST-233 (Table 2).

Clinical Isolate	Site of Isolation	MLST Type	MLST Profile
PA9	Catheter tip	ST-233	16,5,30,11,4,31,41
PA15	Tracheal aspirate	ST-233 16,5,30,11,4,3	
PA16	Tracheal aspirate	ST-233	16,5,30,11,4,31,41
PA28	Tracheal aspirate	ST-233	16,5,30,11,4,31,41
PA43	Tracheal aspirate	ST-308	13,4,5,5,12,7,15
PA45	Tracheal aspirate	ST-233	16,5,30,11,4,31,41
PA59	Sputum	ST-235	38,11,3,13,1,2,4
PA120	Tracheal aspirate	ST-1182	5,1,109,54,1,1,47
PA132	Blood	ST-235	38,11,3,13,1,2,4
PA 141	Sputum	ST-296	44,8,5,3,15,6,26
PA 152	Urine	ST-654	17,5,26,3,4,4,26
PA 155	Tracheal aspirate	ST-1233	17,5,11,3,4,6,7

Table 2: MLST types and profiles of the 12 sequenced *P. aeruginosa* isolates along with their site of isolation/infection

MLST, multilocus sequence typing; ST: sequence type. MLST genes are: *acs*, *aro*, *gua*, *mut*, *nuo*, *pps* and *trp*.



Figure 1. Subsystem category distribution of PA59 based on SEED databases

A total of 4719 subsystems were detected using RAST within the sequenced genomes, with the biggest subsystem being the genes encoding nutrient metabolism,

followed by those linked to stress response, virulence factors, regulation and cell signaling and phages (Figure 1).

4.1.2. Virulence Determinants

Virulence determinants were detected using the CGE VirulenceFinder 1.2 tool (Table 3). *lasI* and *lasR* genes, which are very important components of the quorum sensing network controlling virulence factors such as cell survival, biofilm formation and efflux pumps leading to enhanced pathogenesis (Balasubramanian et al., 2012), were detected in 11 out of the 12 sequenced isolates (PA28 and PA132 negative for *lasI* and *lasR*, respectively). *exoU* or *exoS*, T3SS effectors, were detected in nine isolates, with all being additionally XDR. Isolates PA9, PA45, PA59, PA120, PA132 and PA141 were positive for the *exoU* gene, a potent cytotoxin required for full pseudomonal virulence, PA9, PA15, PA16, PA45, PA152 and PA155 harbored the *exoS* and PA45 *exoS* and *exoU*. Finally, *gacA* and *gacS* were detected in all the sequenced genomes (Table 3).

Strains	Category	Function	Name
PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28, PA43, PA45, PA59, PA120, PA132, PA141, PA152, PA155	Quorum sensing	Transcriptional activators and regulators of the QS network. (Balasubramanian et al., 2012; Jimenez et al., 2012)	rhlR, luxR
PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28, PA43, PA45, PA59, PA120, PA141, PA152, PA155	Quorum sensing	Transcriptional activators and regulators of the QS network (Balasubramanian et al., 2012; Jimenez et al., 2012)	lasR
PA9, PA15, PA16, PA43, PA45, PA59, PA120, PA132, PA141, PA152, PA155	Quorum sensing	Transcriptional regulators of the QS network that control the production of multiple virulence factors (Balasubramanian et al., 2012; Jimenez et al.,	lasI

Table 3: Virulence genes of *P. aeruginosa* strains
		2012)	
PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28, PA43, PA45, PA59, PA120, PA132, PA141, PA152, PA155	Regulation	Most important TCS protein in <i>P. aeruginosa</i> that is responsible for converting an acute infection into a chronic infection (Coggan & Wolfgang, 2012)	gacA, gacS
PA9, PA15, PA16,PA28, PA43, PA45,PA59, PA120,PA132, PA141,PA152, PA155	Regulation	Result in resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and polymyxin B (Balasubramanian et al., 2012)	phoP, phoQ
PA9,PA15,PA16,PA28,PA43,PA45,PA59,PA120,PA132,PA141,PA152,PA155	Adherence	Involved in antimicrobial drug resistance due to the production of biofilm persister cells (Mulcahy et al., 2010)	pilH
PA9,PA15,PA16,PA28,PA43,PA45,PA59,PA120,PA132,PA141,PA152,PA155	Cell division	Results in intrinsic resistance to ciproflaxins (Breidenstein et al., 2011)	ftsK
PA9,PA15,PA16,PA28,PA43,PA45,PA59,PA120,PA132,PA141,PA152,PA155	Transmembrane protein transporter	Results in intrinsic resistance to β-lactams (Breidenstein et al., 2011)	ampG
PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28, PA43, PA45, PA59, PA120, PA132, PA141, PA152, PA155	Regulation	Suppresses regulation of the QS virulence genes and results in overproduction of β - lactamases and alginate (Balasubramanian et al., 2011)	ampR β- lactamase regulator
PA9,PA15,PA16,PA28,PA43,PA45,PA59,PA120,PA132,PA141,	Efflux pump regulation	Required for acquired resistance through mutational resistance causing efflux pumps	mexR, nfxB

PA152, PA155		MexAB-OprM and MexCD-OprJ derepression (Breidenstein et al., 2011)	
PA43, PA59, PA120, PA 132, PA141	Secretion system	Type III secretion system cytotoxin required for full pseudomonal virulence and increased pathology in the lungs (Hauser et al., 1999)	exoU
PA9, PA155	Secretion system	Type III secretion system toxin required for colonization and dissemination during infection (Lee et al., 2005)	exoS

4.2. Antimicrobial Susceptibility Test

Antibiotic susceptibility for the 18 studied isolates was determined by the Kirby-Bauer disk agar diffusion method against 12 different antibiotics (Table 4).

Table 4: Antimicrobial activity of *P. aeruginosa* tested against antimicrobial agents

 by disk diffusion method (R: Resistant; I: Intermediary Resistant; S: Sensitive)

	AK	ATM	CAR	CI	TE	GM
PA3	S	Ι	Ι	R	Ι	R
PA5	R	R	R	R	R	R
PA9	R	Ι	R	R	Ι	Ι
PA15	R	Ι	R	R	R	R
PA16	R	R	R	R	R	R
PA28	R	Ι	R	R	R	R

PA43	S	S	Ι	S	R	S
PA45	R	R	R	R	R	R
PA53	R	S	R	R	R	R
PA59	R	R	R	R	R	R
PA120	R	Ι	R	R	R	R
PA132	R	R	R	R	R	R
PA138	Ι	R	R	R	R	R
PA141	R	R	R	R	R	R
PA147	R	Ι	R	R	R	R
PA152	S	R	R	R	R	R
PA155	R	R	R	R	R	R
PA177	Ι	R	R	R	S	R

	IPM	CAZ	TZP	ТХ	TM	COL
PA3	S	S	S	Ι	R	S
PA5	R	R	S	R	R	S
PA9	Ι	S	R	R	S	S
PA15	R	R	R	R	R	S
PA16	R	R	R	R	R	S
PA28	R	R	R	R	R	S
PA43	S	S	S	R	S	S
PA45	R	R	R	R	R	S

PA53	R	R	R	R	R	S
PA59	R	R	R	R	R	R
PA120	R	R	R	R	R	S
PA132	R	R	R	R	R	S
PA138	S	R	R	R	R	S
PA141	R	R	R	R	R	S
PA147	R	R	R	R	R	S
PA152	R	R	R	R	R	S
PA155	R	R	R	R	R	S
PA177	S	R	R	R	R	S

Amikacin (AK), aztreonam (ATM), carbencilin (CAR), ceftazidime (CAZ), ceftriaxone (TX), ciproflaxin (CI), colistin (CST), gentamicin (GM), imipenem (IPM), piperacillin/tazobactam (TZP), tetracycline (TE) and tobramycin (TM)

4.2.1. Antibiotic Resistance

The disk agar diffusion method revealed that 94% of the isolates were resistant to ciproflaxin and ceftriaxone, with only 6% being resistant to colistin. Colistin was the most effective antimicrobial drug, followed by aztreonam. The results also showed that 33% of the isolates are intermediary resistant to amikacin, and 6% to each of ceftriaxone, gentamicin and imipenem (Figure 2).

Fluoroquinolone resistance (ciprofloxacin) was detected in only one isolate, PA152, mediated by the presence of the aac(6')Ib-cr gene (Table 5). The disc diffusion test confirmed that PA152 was resistant to fluoroquinolones (ciprofloxacin). The whole genome sequencing results (Table 5) were in agreement with the disc diffusion results (Table 4). The results of the PCR assays showed that the fluoroquinolone

resistant isolates harbored at least two of the *mexA*, *mexC* and *mexE* genes, which encode the efflux pumps MexAB-OprM, MexCD-OprJ and MexEF-OprN conferring resistance to fluoroquinolone (Table 7). This indicates genotype-phenotype matching except for isolate PA43, which was found to be sensitive to ciprofloxacin by the disk agar diffusion method while harboring all three *mex* efflux genes simultaneously (Tables 4 and 7).

The resistant isolates were additionally tested for other antimicrobial agents by the disk agar diffusion method, whole-genome sequencing and PCR assays. There was a high correlation between the detected phenotypes and genotypes (Tables 4, 5 and 7). All isolates (except PA43) were extensively drug-resistant (XDR), being resistant to almost all antimicrobial classes (Magiarakos et al., 2011). Isolates PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28 and PA45 belonged to the most prevalent sequence type (ST-233) and were XDR (Magiarakos et al., 2011), including resistance to aminoglycosides (amikacin, gentamycin and tobramycin), fluoroquinolones (ciproflocaxin), β-lactams (aztreonam) but susceptible to polymyxin E (colistin). Isolates PA59 and PA132 belonged to ST-235 and were XDR to the tested aminoglycosides (amikacin, gentamycin and tobramycin), monobactams (aztreonam), carbapenems (imipenem), penicillins (carbencillin and piperacillin/tazobactam), cephalosporins (ceftazidime and ceftriaxone), fluoroquinolones (ciprofloxacin) and tetracyclines, with it being additionally resistant to polymyxin E (colistin).

Among the detected genes were bla_{PAO} and bla_{OXA-50} genes, which confers additional β -lactam/carbapenem resistance. PA152 also harbored bla_{IMP-15} and bla_{GES-1} genes, involved in hydrolyzing carbapenems. On the other hand, isolates PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28 and PA45 carried bla_{OXA-4} and bla_{VIM-2} , which are linked to carbapenem resistance. (Table 5).

PCR assays targeting *mexA* and *oprD* showed that PA15, PA16 and PA28 carried the *mexA* gene (imipenem resistance), while PA141, PA147 and PA155 carried the *oprD* gene (imipenem resistance). PA45, PA120 and PA132 harbored both *mexA* and *oprD* (Table 7). However, the remaining imipenem resistant isolates PA5, PA9, PA53 and PA152 were negative to all the former genes, with resistance to carbapenems, specifically imipenem, being confirmed through the disk agar diffusion assay.

The *aph(3')-IIb gene*, an aminoglycoside-modifying enzyme, was detected in all the 12 isolates conferring resistance to aminoglycosides (Table 5). The disc diffusion assay (Table 4) showed that all the isolates were resistant to at least one of the following aminoglycosides: amikacin, gentamicin and tobramycin. Six isolates (PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28, PA45 and PA152) carried tetracycline resistant determinants tet(A) and tet(G), and phenotypically showed tetracycline resistance (Tables 4 and 5). PCR assays revealed that PA43, PA120 and PA132 harbored *mexA*, which could be involved in mediating tetracycline resistance (Table 7).

Cephalosporin (ceftazidime), extended-spectrum cephalosporins (ceftriaxone), penicillin (piperacillin/tazobactam) and polymyxin (colistin) resistance were also determined (Table 4).



Figure 2. Histogram showing the percentage of resistant, intermediary resistant and sensitive isolates to each tested antimicrobial agents. Amikacin (AK), aztreonam (ATM), carbencilin (CAR), ceftazidime (CAZ), ceftriaxone (TX), ciproflaxin (CI), colistin (CST), gentamicin (GM), imipenem (IPM), piperacillin/tazobactam (TZP), tetracycline (TE) and tobramycin (TM)

Table 5: Antimicrobial resistance determinants of the 12 sequenced *P. aeruginosa* isolates

Antibiotic Resistance Determinant	Isolates
Aminoglycoside	
aph(3')-Via	PA9
aph(3')-11b	PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28, PA43, PA45,
	PA59, PA120, PA132, PA141, PA152,
	PA155
aadA2	PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28, PA45
aadA6	PA59, PA132
aadA13	PA152
aac(6')Ib-cr	PA152
aadB	PA152

strA	PA15, PA16, PA28, PA43, PA152
strB	PA15, PA16, PA28, PA43, PA152
aac(3)-Id	PA15, PA16, PA28, PA45
β-lactam	
Bla _{PAO}	PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28, PA43, PA45,
	PA59, PA120, PA132, PA141, PA152,
	PA155
BlaoxA-50	PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28, PA43, PA45,
	PA59, PA120, PA132, PA141, PA152,
	PA155
Bla _{OXA-4}	PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28, PA45
Bla _{IMP-15}	PA152
Bla _{GES-1}	PA152
Bla _{VIM-2}	PA15, PA16, PA28, PA45
Fosfomycin	
fosA	PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28, PA43, PA45,
	PA59, PA120, PA132, PA141, PA152,
	PA155
Phenicol	
catB7	PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28, PA43, PA45,
	PA59, PA120, PA132, PA141, PA152,
	PA155
cmlA1	PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28, PA45
Sulphonamide	
Surphonannuc	
sul1	PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28, PA 45, PA59,
sul1	PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28, PA 45, PA59, PA132, PA152
sul1 Tetracycline	PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28, PA 45, PA59, PA132, PA152
sul1 Tetracycline tet(A)	PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28, PA 45, PA59, PA132, PA152 PA9, PA152
Sull Sull Tetracycline tet(A) tet(G)	 PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28, PA 45, PA59, PA132, PA152 PA9, PA152 PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28, PA45
Sull Sull Tetracycline tet(A) tet(G) Fluroquinolone	PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28, PA 45, PA59, PA132, PA152 PA9, PA152 PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28, PA45
Sull Sull Tetracycline tet(A) tet(G) Fluroquinolone aac(6')Ib-cr	PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28, PA 45, PA59, PA132, PA152 PA9, PA152 PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28, PA45 PA152
Sull Sull Tetracycline tet(A) tet(G) Fluroquinolone aac(6')Ib-cr Trimethoprim	PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28, PA 45, PA59, PA132, PA152 PA9, PA152 PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28, PA45 PA152

4.2.2. Extensive Drug Resistance (XDR) Patterns

The *P. aeruginosa* clinical isolates were analyzed for resistance patterns. A total of 11 patterns were detected among the 18 clinical isolates (Table 6). The most common XDR pattern was pattern A (aimkacin, aztreonam, carbencillin, ceftazidime, ceftriaxone, cirprofloxacin, gentamicin, imipenem, piperacillin/tazobactam, tetracycline and tobramycin), which was detected in five of the isolates: PA16, PA45, PA132, PA141 and PA155. It was followed by pattern B (amikacin, aztreonam (I), carbencilin, ceftazidime, ceftriaxone, cirproflaxin, gentamicin, imipenem, piperacillin/tazobactam, tetracycline and tobramycin) detected in: PA15, PA28, PA120 and PA147. All isolates, except PA43, showed resistance against 9-12 of the tested antibiotics.

Pattern	XDR Isolate	No. of Antimicrobial Drugs	Intermediately Resistant to Antimicrobial Drugs	Resistant to Antimicrobial Drugs
Pattern A	PA16, PA45, PA132, PA141, PA155	11 (R)	-	AK, ATM, CAR, CI, TE, GM, IPM, CAZ, TZP, TX, TM
Pattern B	PA15, PA28, PA120, PA147	10 (R) 1 (I)	ATM	AK, CAR, CI, TE, GM, IPM, CAZ, TZP, TX, TM
Pattern C	PA59	12 (R)	-	AK, ATM, CAR, CI, TE, GM, IPM, CAZ, TZP, TX, TM, COL
Pattern D	PA3	3 (R) 4 (I)	ATM, CAR, TE,TX	CI, GM, TM

Table 6. Extensive drug resistance patterns of the *P. aeruginosa* clinical isolates against antimicrobial agents

Pattern E	PA5	10 (R)	-	AK, ATM, CAR, CI, TE, GM, IPM, CAZ, TX, TM
Pattern F	PA9	5 (R) 4 (I)	ATM, TE, GM, IPM	AK, CAR, CI, TZP, TX
Pattern G	PA43	2 (R) 1 (I)	CAR	TE, TX
Pattern H	PA53	10 (R)	-	AK, CAR, CI, TE, GM, IPM, CAZ, TZP,TX, TM
Pattern I	PA138	9 (R) 1 (I)	АК	ATM, CAR, CI, TE, GM, IPM, CAZ, TZP, TX, TM
Pattern J	PA152	10 (R)	-	ATM, CAR, CI, TE, GM, IPM, CAZ, T
Pattern K	PA177	8 (R) 1 (I)	АК	ATM, CAR, CI, GM, CAZ, TZP, TX, TM

Amikacin (AK), aztreonam (ATM), carbencilin (CAR), ceftazidime (CAZ), ceftriaxone (TX), ciproflaxin (CI), colistin (CST), gentamicin (GM), imipenem (IPM), piperacillin/tazobactam (TZP), tetracycline (TE) and tobramycin (TM).

4.3. Prevalence of Porins, Efflux Pumps and Exotoxin Encoding

Genes

PCR assays were performed to detect the presence of three porin encoding genes: *oprI*, *oprL* and *oprD* and 3 efflux pumps: *mexA*, *mexC* and *mexE* (amplifying the expected 249 bp fragment of the *oprI* gene, 504 bp fragment of the *oprL* gene, 1412

bp of the *oprD* gene, 316 bp fragment of *mexA* gene, 164 bp fragment of the *mexC* gene and 114 bp fragment of *mexE* gene). The PCR results are shown below (Table 7).

PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28 and PA45 belonging to ST-233, were positive for *oprI* and *oprL* genes, with PA45 being additionally positive for *oprD*. These isolates also harbored the *mexA*, *mexC* and *mexE* genes expect for PA9, which was negative for *mexA*. PA9, PA15 and PA16 were positive for *exoS*, PA45 carried both *exoS* and *exoU*, and PA28 was negative for both.

PA59 and PA132 typed as ST-235 carried the *oprI* and *oprL* genes, with PA132 being also positive for *oprD*. PA59 and PA132, which were positive for *exoU*, harbored the *mexC* and *mexE* genes, and PA132 also carried the *mexA* gene.

Table 7: PCR products detecting the presence (+) or absence (-) of *oprI*, *oprL*, *oprD*, *mexA*, *mexC*, *mexE*, *exoS* and *exoU* genes among the 18 *P*. *aeruginosa* clinical isolates

Clinical	Porin .	Encoding	g Genes	Efflux Pump Encoding			Exo	toxin
Isolates				Genes			Enc	oding
							Ge	nes
	oprI	oprL	oprD	mexA	mexC	mexE	exoS	exoU
PA3	+	+	+	_	+	+	+	_
PA5	+	+	-	-	+	+	+	-
PA9	+	+	_	_	+	+	+	_
PA15	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	-
PA16	+	+	_	+	+	+	+	_
PA28	+	+	-	+	+	+	-	-
PA43	+	+	_	+	+	+	+	+
PA45	+	+	+	+	+	+	_	_
PA53	+	+	_	_	+	+	+	_
PA59	+	+	I		+	+		+
PA120	+	+	+	+	+	+	_	+
PA132	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+
PA138	+	+	+	_	+	+	+	_
PA141	+	+	+	_	+	+	_	+

PA147	+	+	+	_	+	+	_	+
PA152	+	+	-	-	+	+	+	_
PA155	+	+	+	_	+	+	+	_
PA177	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+

4.4. Phages and Mobile Elements

Several phages were identified with the majority of them being classified under the phiCTX family of pseudomonal phages (Table 8). Other non-pseudomonal phages were also detected such as *Escherichia* and *Stenotrophomonas* phages. All phages had an average of 42 coding sequences, GC content of 63.52 %, and were 35.8 Kbp in length.

Table 8: Phages detected in the sequenced genomes

Isolate	Phage Name	Position	No. of CDS	Size (Kbp)	GC %
PA9	phiCTX	743077-779746	47	36.6	64.04%
	YMC11/02/R656	1150747-1182116	34	31.3	64.19%
PA15	YMC11/02/R656	632693-661109	35	28.4	65.12%
	phiCTX	5126788-5150819	28	24	60.47%
	phiCTX	5387820-5399371	16	11.5	65.55%
	F10	6490102-6565302	102	75.2	60.55%
PA16	YMC11/02/R656	1496853-1526834	34	29.9	65.80%
	phiCTX	4920620-4936555	21	15.9	65.78%
	D3	6397289-6429632	44	32.3	58.30%
	phiCTX	6590318-6606199	20	15.8	62.35%
	phiCTX	6808632-6850889	46	42.2	65.48%
PA28	YMC11/02/R656	1364979-1392112	32	27.1	65.40%
	phiCTX	5007127-5023794	22	16.6	65.83%
	F10	6389980-6464497	95	74.5	60.60%

	phiCTX	6819795-6862052	46	42.2	65.48%
PA43	YMC11/02/R656	2118560-2148833	35	30.2	64.48%
	phiCTX	4341803-4394545	52	52.7	64.43%
PA45	YMC11/02/R656	989751-1016691	33	26.9	65.44%
	phiCTX	2381297-2392694	17	11.3	65.71%
	phiCTX	5556401-5570151	17	13.7	65.69%
	PMG1	6513133-6547988	46	34.8	58.53%
	phiCTX	6798804-6839112	41	40.3	64.71%
PA59	phiCTX	577360-597499	25	20.1	65.25%
	D3	3192482-3251790	63	59.3	59.88%
	phiCTX	4139903-4165279	29	25.3	64.70%
	F10	4885051-4928085	52	43	61.15%
PA120	YMC11/02/R656	4119126-4149390	34	30.2	64.29%
	phi297	5648972-5709609	76	60.6	58.55%
PA132	phiCTX	1815802-1835941	25	20.1	65.25%
	D3	2451647-2505188	64	53.5	58.95%
	Bacter_Lily	6646296-6658579	17	12.2	64.43%
PA141	F10	840623-884601	59	43.9	60.83%
PA152	phiCTX	119784-163368	51	43.5	63.64%
	Escher_vB_EcoM_EC O1230_10	923732-945394	28	21.6	64.06%
	phiCTX	1388499-1408769	27	20.2	65.22%
	PMG1	3782350-3820977	48	38.6	59.71%
	D3	5283785-5418271	109	134.4	67.38%
<u> </u>	YMC11/02/R656	5610674-5632005	22	21.3	65.47%
PA155	Stenot_S1	2935327-2971800	20	36.4	64.53%

4.5. Phylogenetic Analysis



Figure 3. Maximum likelihood tree generated using PhyloSift. NCBI was used to download the genomes. The maximum likelihood tree was then inferred using FigTree including the 12 isolates along with six reference strains: DK2, LESB58, M18, NCGM2.S1, PAO1 and UCBPP-PA14. *Cellvibrio japonicus* Ueda107was excluded as an outlier.

A concatenated maximum likelihood tree was generated in order to determine epidemiological links between the sequenced isolates. DK2, LESB58, M18, NCGM2.S1, PAO1 and UCBPP-PA14 were used as reference genomes. Phylogenetic analysis showed the grouping of PA15, PA16, PA28 and PA45 into the same clade and in close association with PA9. PA43 was clustered with UCBPP-PA14 and in close association with PA141, while PA132 was clustered with NCGM2.S1 and in close association with PA120. PA155 was in close association with PAO1 and LESB58.

4.6. Comparative Circular Genomes

The genome of PA59 was 6,756,856 bp in length, which assembled as a single circular chromosome (ANNEX I: circular genomes of all sequenced isolates). The sequenced genomes were compared with the reference strain PAO1.

The results for PA59 additionally revealed 1887 ORFs including: systems for the synthesis of amino acids, carbohydrates and cofactors and those required for protein metabolism allowing it to grow on minimal media and survive in diverse environments. These genes made up 30% of the total ORFs found in *P. aeruginosa*. 331 ORFs (5.3%) were shown to be involved in membrane transport, both in terms of nutrient uptake through the di- and tri-carboxylates transporters and protein secretion through type I-VIII secretion systems. 459 ORFSs (7.3%) were found to be involved in regulation and cell signaling, which was significantly higher than what was reported in other sequenced bacterial genomes. PA59 also contained 173 ORFs (2.7%) encoding members of the RND family of efflux pumps and the MexA-MexB, MexC-MexD and MexE-MexF multidrug efflux pumps resulting in increased intrinsic resistance to antibiotics.



Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA59

Figure 4. Circular map of *P. aerugiosa* PA59 genome. Circular representation of the PA59 genome; from outside to inside, the tracks display the following information: CDSs of PA59 on the forward stand (red), CDSs of PA59 on the reverse stand (blue), rRNAs (magenta), tRNAs (brown), GC plot and GC skew with positive value (green) and negative value (purple).





Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA59

(6,756,856 bp)

Figure 5. Comparative circular map of *P. aeruginosa* PA59 genome BLASTed against the genome of reference strain PAO1. This graphical representation of the genome was generated using CGview server V 1.0 (Grant & Stothard, 2008). Circular representation of the PA59 genome; from outside to inside, the tracks display the following information: clockwise CDSs, anticlockwise CDSs, *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 BLAST comparison, GC content and GC skew. The BLASTN alignment tracks displays white regions which indicate parts of the input sequence that did not yield a BLAST hit. Regions with a little pink/green color represents parts of the input sequence that yield one blast hit. Regions with a dark pink/green color

indicate numerous BLAST hits which are commonly attributed to rRNAs or tRNAs. Then, GC plot and GC skew with positive value (green) and negative value (purple) are shown.

Chapter Five

DISCUSSION

P. aeruginosa is a ubiquitous Gram-negative opportunistic pathogen capable of causing a wide range of diseases. In addition to its high rate of prevalence in the cystic fibrosis (CF) lung, P. aeruginosa is a frequent cause of acute infections such as burns, lung, urinary tract and wound infections (Mulcahy et al., 2014, Wong et al., 2012). It is involved in the healthcare setting where it poses serious threats to immunocompromised patients (Marvig et al., 2013). The increasing frequency of extensively drug resistant P. aeruginosa strains has made efficacious antibiotic treatment very limited and challenging (Morello et al., 2011). These extensively drug resistant strains are resistant to almost all approved antimicrobial agents mainly due to overexpression of multiple efflux pumps, production of β -lactamases and loss of outer membrane permeability compounded by their ability to form biofilms and release toxins (Magiorakos et al., 2011; Castanheira et al., 2014). The increasing prevalence of drug resistant and highly pathogenic strains of *P. aeruginosa* is of great concern in Lebanon and various neighbouring countries in the Middle East. Accordingly, the genomic features of 12 XDR P. aeruginosa recovered from clinical specimens in Lebanon were characterized in this study.

5.1. Multi Locus Sequence Typing (MLST)

MLST is a nucleotide sequence-based method used in epidemiological investigations targeting antibiotic drug resistant bacteria to understand and elucidate the genetic This diversity among bacteria (Nunney et al., 2012). scheme discriminates P. aeruginosa isolates by differences in the sequences of seven genes: acsA, aroE, guaA, mutL, nuoD, ppsA and trpE. housekeeping Due to recombination events in the non-clonal structure of this species, evolution of P. aeruginosa has occurred leading to a diversity of serotypes. The analysis of the seven loci in this study, demonstrated that the prevalent STs were: ST-233, ST-235, ST-296, ST-654, ST-1182 and ST-1233, with the most common ST being ST-233 (serotype O6; complex D; bla_{VIM-2}). PA15, PA16, PA28 and PA45 belonged to ST-233, harboured the bla_{VIM-2} gene (Table 5) and had the same antibiotic resistance profile with the exception of aztreonam (PA16 and PA45 were resistant to ATM, while PA15 and PA28 were intermediary resistant). PA9 belonged to ST-233 and carried another carbapenemase encoding gene, bla_{OXA-50} . This strain belonged to the same ST but presented differences in its antibiotic resistance profile. ST-233 was first detected in an outbreak in Japan (2006-2009) (Tsutsui et al., 2011). ST-233 VIM-2 producing *P. aeruginosa* was detected in one isolate imported from Ghana and was imported to Scandinavia (Samuelsen et al., 2009; Zafer et al., 2015). These VIM-2 metallo- β -lactamase producing isolates (MBL) were also reported in several European countries including: Algeria and Tunisia and South Africa (Zafer et al., 2015). The *bla*_{VIM-2} gene was more frequent in our study than other MBL encoding genes. This was in harmony with the findings of Walsh et al. where the *bla*_{VIM-2} gene was the most dominant MBL linked to imipenem resistance (Walsh et al., 2008).

PA59 and PA132 were of sequence type ST-235 (serotype O11; complex B), in which aminoglycoside, β-lactam and quinolone resistance was detected with P59 being additionally colistin resistant (Table 4). ST-235 (predicted founder BG 11) was previously detected in different countries (Austria, Belgium, France, Greece, Hungary, Italy, Poland, Russia, Serbia, Singapore, Sweden and Turkey), carrying different β-lactamases such as: VIM- (Verona-integron-encoded MBL), BEL-(Belgium ESBL), IMP- (imipenem), OXA- (active on oxacillin), PAO- (*P. aeruginosa* strain PAO1), PER- (*Pseudomonas* extended resistance), PSE-(Pseudomonas-specific enzyme) and SPM- (São Paulo MBL) (Empel et al., 2007; Shevchenko & Edelstein, 2007; Edalucci et al., 2008; Lepsanovic et al., 2008; Libisch et al., 2008; Duljasz et al., 2009; Viedma et al., 2009; Glupczynski et al., 2010). Additionally, both isolates harbored *bla*_{OXA-50} and *bla*_{PAO} genes, coding for carbapenemases.

ST-654 (serotype O11; complex C) is another MDR isolate that was detected in this study (PA 152), and characterized by harboring *bla*_{PAO}, *bla*_{OXA-50}, *bla*_{GES-1} and *bla*_{IMP-15} genes. ST-654 is an international high-risk clone that was imported from Tunisia (Wright et al., 2015; Woodford et al., 2011), and detected in Poland, Sweden (carrying *bla*_{VIM-2} gene) and the United Kingdom (carrying *bla*_{VIM-2} and *bla*_{IMP-15})

(Mataseje et al., 2016). Pasteran et al. revealed that strains belonging to ST-654 are of major importance due to their role in the worldwide dissemination of carbapenemases and metallo- β -lactamases (Pasteran et al., 2009).

5.2. Virulence

The increased pathogenesis of *P. aeruginosa* and the high mortality and morbidity rates associated with pseudomonal infections are linked to the presence of a combination of virulence determinants (Le Berre et al., 2009). The three most potent being quorum sensing (QS) components, type III secretion system toxins and two-component regulatory systems (Hauser, 2011).

The T3SS is the most significant in *P. aeruginosa* linked to reduced patient health outcome (Berube et al., 2016). Two T3SS effector proteins implicated in virulence, ExoS and ExoU, were investigated in this study. Our results revealed that 56% of the isolates harbored *exoS* gene and 39% the *exoU*, with one isolate having both (PA43) and two having none (PA28 and PA45). On the other hand, 50% of the isolates carrying exoS were recovered from tracheal aspirate. The fact that all the strains that were XDR were either positive for exoU or exoS is very alarming. PA43, however, was positive for both exotoxin genes and was resistant to only three out of 12 tested antimicrobial agents. However, and contrary to what has been reported previously (Adabi et al., 2015; Koutsogiannou et al., 2012; Mitov et al., 2010; El-Solh et al., 2012; Sawa et al., 2014), PA43 is a unique strain since it carries both exotoxin genes and is not XDR. ExoS is capable of disrupting the host, actin cytoskeleton and vesicular trafficking, causing host cell death and inhibiting endocytosis (Barbieri et al., 2001; Fraylick et al., 2001; Pederson et al., 1998; Rocha et al., 2003). Shaver et al. (2004) suggested that clinical strains harboring ExoS show reduced survival and increased bacterial spread from the lungs of patients with acute pneumonia. Strains carrying ExoU have increased virulence activity and lead to prompt necrotic cell death due to its phospholipase ability to damage membranes (Gendrin et al., 2011). The results of this study also revealed that 50% of the strains were characterized as being exoS⁺/exoU⁻ and 33% being exoS⁻/exoU⁺. Fleiszig et al. showed that exoS⁺ strains are more invasive and can decrease DNA synthesis, while exoU⁺ strains are more cytotoxic and are capable of evading the host immune response. In harmony with our results, strains carrying these virulent determinants are of great concern because of their increased potential of causing disease and are consequently treated with antimicrobial agents resulting in the emergence of resistance.

Quorum sensing network systems, *las* and *rhl*, are very vital in regulating virulence determinants in P. aeruginosa (Moker et al., 2009). Eleven out of the 12 sequenced isolates carry the lasI and lasR genes (isolate PA28 lacks lasI and isolate PA132 lacks *lasR*) required for virulence. The *las* system is made up of LasR and LasI (the transcriptional activator and auto-inducer synthesis regulator, respectively), which induce the expression of a number of target genes and is essential for biofilm development. The rhl system is made up of RhlR and RhlI (transcriptional activator protein and auto-inducer synthesis regulator, respectively), regulating *rhlI* and *rhlAB* expression encoding a rhamnosyltransferase needed for rhamnolipids production (Jimenez et al., 2012). Rhamnolipids are required for the initial stage of infection providing the bacteria with an immune shield, protecting the bacterium from the antimicrobial activity of host polymorphonuclear neutrophilic leukocytes (PMNs) (Bjarnsholt et al., 2010). The AmpR β -lactamase regulator is another virulence factor that has been demonstrated to activate the expression of QS genes (Balasubramanian et al., 2012). All sequenced strains carried the AmpR- β -lactamase regulator (Table 3) and thus, are involved in increased P. aeruginosa virulence and probable production of QS linked virulence factors, where AmpR-deficient strains showed attenuated virulence (Balasubramanian et al., 2012; Kong et al., 2005).

In addition to the *las* QS system, a two-component signal transduction system, GacSA, controls biofilm formation and synthesis of several virulence determinants (Jimenez et al., 2012). Most importantly, the GacSA system is responsible for converting an acute infection into a chronic infection. Upon activation of the GacSA system, multiple genes involved in biofilm formation are activated, and many genes involved in acute stages of virulence are repressed (Coggan & Wolfgang, 2012). *gacA* and *gacS* genes were detected in all the sequenced genomes. GacSA system is also implicated in antibiotic resistance against ciprofloxacin, tetracyclines and tobramycin by controlling rgRsmZ and rgRsmY, two small regulatory RNAs (Linares et al., 2009). Our results showed that 10 out of the 12 sequenced isolates were resistant to the three antimicrobial classes at the same time and carried both *gacA* and *gacS* genes. Thus, both the QS and GacSA TCS systems act synergistically to enhance the virulence of *P. aeruginosa* during chronic infections in CF lungs and

biofilm formation. The GacSA TCS system also controls T3SS activity. Upon phosphorelation of GacA, rgRsmZ and rgRsmY block the negative regulator RNAbinding protein RsmA, which positively regulates genes of the T3SS. This interaction is highly involved in lung injury, to fully augment pseudomonal virulence and adaptation (Hauser, 2009).

Whole-genome sequencing also revealed the presence of *phoP* and *phoQ* genes in all the 12 sequenced isolates. The phoP-phoQ two-component regulatory system is required for resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and polymyxin B (Balasubramanian et al., 2012) by responding to Mg^{2+} depleted conditions leading to arnB operon overexpression (Lee et al., 2014). The phoP-phoQ two-component regulatory system is involved in adaptation to epithelial surfaces, which is very important for the pathogenesis of Gram-negative pathogens (Gellatly et al., 2012). Although all the sequenced isolates carried *phoP* and *phoQ* genes, PA59 was the only strain found to be resistant to colistin. Mutations that result in changes in this phoP-phoQ two-component regulatory system lead to increased polymyxin E (colistin) resistance in *P. aeruginosa* clinical strains (Lee et al., 2014). Many studies have previously reported that colistin-resistant P. aeruginosa strains divert from causing an acute to one causing a chronic infection as a result of mutations in the phoQ gene (Barrow et al., 2009; Miller et al., 2011; Schurek et al., 2009; Sriramulu et al., 2005). According to Gellatlly et al., these mutations along with the added pressures of epithelial adherence and polymxin resistance have resulted in the increased emergence of MDR and XDR strains.

5.3. Antibiotic resistance

A worrying problem is the dissemination of resistant *P. aeruginosa* strains in Lebanon (Al Bayssari et al., 2014; Al Bayssari et al., 2015). The results of our study also showed the presence of XDR *P. aeruginosa* in Lebanese patients upon testing against 12 antimicrobial agents. Resistance is most common in the isolates recovered from tracheal aspirates All the clinical isolates (except PA43) showed resistance to at least nine to 12 of the tested antibiotics, with only one, PA59, being resistant to colistin. MDR Gram-negative bacteria have been rapidly spreading in many countries worldwide, including Lebanon (Hamouche et al., 2012).

One of the most effective treatments against P. aeruginosa infections is the carbapenems, followed by fluoroquinolones and aminoglycosides (Morita et al., 2015). Eight of the 12 sequenced P. aeruginosa isolates were negative for the oprD gene as confirmed by the PCR assay (Table 7), which caused the loss of the OprD protein and hence explains their resistance to imipenem (Annex I). All 12 isolates harbored the *ampG* gene linked to intrinsic resistance to β -lactams (Breidenstein et al., 2011), out of which four (PA15, PA16, PA28 and PA43) carried the mexA gene involved in carbapenem resistance. Each of the sequenced isolates also carried at least one of the following β -lactamases: bla_{PAO} , bla_{OXA-50} , bla_{OXA-4} , bla_{IMP-15} , bla_{GES-1} and/or blaviM-2. P. aeruginosa has acquired several resistance mechanisms against a wide array of antibiotics. P. aeruginosa become resistant to carbapenems through: outer membrane porin protein OprD loss or alteration, metallo-β-lactamases (IMP and VIM) production and MexA-MexB multidrug efflux pump overexpression (Al Bayssari et al., 2014). Carbapenems enter into the periplasmic space of P. aeruginosa through the OprD outer membrane porin (Horii et al., 2003; Carmeli et al., 1999). Diminished expression or loss of the OprD porin is rather frequent during imipenem treatment conferring imipenem resistance, which was similar to what was detected in this study. The tripartite system on the other hand, MexA-MexB efflux pump, acts synergistically with low outer membrane permeability through loss of oprD porin conferring intrinsic multi-drug resistance to P. aeruginosa (PA15, PA16, PA28 and PA43) (Poole et al., 2001).

All types of carbapenemases, except SIM-114 (Seoul imipenemase), have been detected in *P. aeruginosa* isolates around the world. Among them, the MBLs are considered as the most clinically important for *P. aeruginosa* (Walsh et al., 2005). MDR and XDR *P. aeruginosa* are the outcome of a combination of multiple mechanisms in a single isolate or the action of a single potent resistance mechanism (Tavajjohi et al., 2011).

The ability of MBL-producing *P. aeruginosa* to reach high level endemicity can outpace the loss of oprD and up-regulated efflux pumps as leading factors causing reduced carbapenem susceptibilitble1y unfolding their potential for causing outbreaks (Diab et al., 2013). Our results showed that VIM-2 is the most dominant MBL implicated in imipenem resistant *P. aeruginosa* as supported by results of other studies and confers the greatest clinical threat (Walsh et al., 2008, Elias et al.,

2010). Worldwide, VIM-2 is the dominant MBL gene associated with nosocomial outbreaks due to MBL-producing *P. aeruginosa*. Since MBL-producing isolates can cause serious infections that are difficult to treat, their presence in various hospitals in Lebanon is of nationwide concern (Al Bayssari et al., 2014). Thus, the combined effect of the multiple resistance mechanisms may be the cause of increased carbapenem resistance in Lebanon (Al Bayssari et al., 2014, Halat et al., 2017).

Senda et al. (1996) reported an increasing frequency of MBLs and concluded that bacteria producing these enzymes have been responsible for persistent nosocomial outbreaks that were accompanied by severe infections (Senda et al., 1996).

The two main mechanisms of fluoroquinolone resistance in *P. aeruginosa* include: drug target modifications (gyrA, gyrB, parC and parE) and/or multidrug efflux pumps (MexA-MexB, MexC-MexD and/or MexE-MexF) overexpression (Llanes et al., 2011). Carbapenem-resistant P. aeruginosa infections are best treated with fluoroquinolone. This however, led to an increase in the emergence of fluoroquinolone resistant strains especially in South Korea resulting in treatment failure (Lee et al., 2003). Two isolates, PA59 and PA152 (ST-235; serotype O11; complex B), were fluoroquinolone resistant. Our results also showed that all 12 sequenced ones harbored the *ftsK* gene associated with intrinsic resistance to ciprofloxacins (Breidenstein et al., 2011), and mexR and nfxB genes linked to acquired ciprofloxacin resistance through mutational resistance causing the derepression of efflux pumps: MexAB-OprM and MexCD-OprJ (Breidenstein et al., 2011). In addition, all the 18 isolates carried mexC and mexE (Table 7) and were phenotypically resistant to ciprofloxacin (Annex I). Interestingly, PA43 was the only strain that was susceptible to ciprofloxacin, while harboring all three mex efflux genes simultaneously (Table 7). This could be due to mutations producing nonfunctional proteins and the lack of promoters upstream of the site of insertion (Poole et al., 2000). Increased resistance to fluoroquinolones is characterized by the simultaneous presence of mexA, mexC and mexE genes (seen in eight out of the 18 tested isolates) (Adabi et al., 2015). On another note, an interesting characteristic of strains expressing efflux-mediated quinolone resistance is their cross-resistance to several unrelated antimicrobial agents such as: aminoglycosides, carbapenems, penicillins, as a results of the broad substrate specificity of the FQ efflux systems

accommodating a variety of clinically relevant antimicrobial agents in addition to FQs (Poole, 2000).

The most widely recognized aminoglycoside resistance mechanism in *P. aeruginosa* is enzymatic alterations of the aminoglycosides via aminoglycosideacetyltransferases (AAC). aminoglycoside-adenyltransferases (AAD), and aminoglycoside-phosphotransferases (APH). These modifying enzymes spread by mobile genetic elements (Teixeira et al., 2016). Two isolates, PA59 and PA132, which were typed as ST-235 (serotype O11; complex B), were aminoglycoside resistant. This sequence type is associated with aminoglycoside, β -lactam and quinolone resistance (Zafer et al., 2015). The most common aminoglycosidemodifying enzyme detected in this study was the aph(3')-IIb gene, while aac(6')Ib-cr gene was only positive in PA152 (Table 5). Such differences however, could be attributed to country-based differences in aminoglycoside usage, with aac(6')Ib-cr gene being either the most prevalent or absent (Kim et al., 2008; Gad et al., 2011; Vaziri et al. 2011). The fact that the isolates tested in this study were positive for multiple aminoglycoside resistance genes was inconsistent with previous studies reporting that the majority of resistant isolates harbor only a single aminoglycosidemodifying gene (Miller et al., 1997). The synthesis of more than one enzyme simultaneously can lead to pan-aminoglycoside resistance (Gad et al., 2011), as seen among the isolates in this study with 17 out of the 18 being phenotypically resistant to at least one of the following aminoglycosides: amikacin (AK), gentamicin (GM) and tobramycin (TM).

5.4. Phages

Eight phages were identified in 12 of the sequenced isolates: phiCTX, YMC11/02/R656, F10, D3, PMG1, phi297, Bacter_Lily, Escher_vB_EcoM_EC01230_10 and Stenot_S1. phiCTX was the most common phage detected in this study. phiCTX is dsDNA cytotoxin-converting phage from the Myoviridae family that carries the *ctx* gene and increases virulence potential (Kung et al., 2010; Kwan et al., 2006). Battle et al. (2008) showed that *P. aeruginosa* strains harbor the phiCTX phage but lack the *ctx* gene, due to several deletion and recombination events, show attenuated virulence. Four out of 12 of the sequenced bacterial genomes (PA16, PA59, PA132 and PA152) carried the D3 bacteriophage,

which is known to harbor serotype-converting genes. Thus, these strains are more capable of attaching to epithelial cells and evading the human immune response due to seroconversion, and thus, more pathogenic (Kung et al., 2010). The F10 bacteriophage was also detected in four out of the 12 sequenced genomes (PA15, PA28, PA59 and PA141). Strains that harbor the F10 bacteriophage have been shown to be involved in increased virulence in a rat lung chronic infection model (Kwan et al., 2006; Wistanley et al., 2009).

5.5. Phylogenetic Analysis

Phylogenetic analysis revealed that the isolates were mainly grouped with the reference strains that had a similar sequence type and resistance profiles. PA9, PA15, PA16, PA28 and PA45 were grouped into the same clade and in close association with PA9 and clustered separately from all the 12 isolates and reference strains used in our study. The five isolates were of sequence type ST-233 and were recovered from tracheal aspirates or catheter tip (PA9). PA132 and NCGM2.S1 clustered together, and had the same ST/clonal complex (ST235 and CC235). PA43 clustered with reference strain UCBPP-PA14 but belonged to different STs, and PA132 clustered with reference strain NCGM2.S1 but also belonged to different STs.

Overall, our study presented a deep understanding on the multiple resistance mechanisms and virulence pathways required for the full potential of *P. aeruginosa* to initiate severe infections. Since novel antimicrobial agents that are FDA approved are limited, it is very important to find new approaches to hamper the threat of antimicrobial resistance. Such strategies include: targeting regulation of resistance mechanisms to enhance antimicrobial drug efficiency and gene expression and developing ways to overcome resistance mechanisms. We are aware that a lot is to be further studied and discovered regarding how *P. aeruginosa* regulates its dynamic and intricate resistance mechanisms to resist antimicrobial activity.

5.6. Future Works

The potential of XDR and cytotoxic *P. aeruginosa* strains in Lebanon is a great threat to public health, especially for immuno-compromised patients. Thus, the genotype and phenotype of this important human pathogen must be rapidly determined. Drug susceptibility testing and surveillance programs are required to

monitor changes in drug resistance patterns and determine the incidence of XDR and virulent isolates to limit and prevent outbreaks of pathogenic *P. aeruginosa*. Once the virulent and antibiotic-resistant determinants that cause injury, sepsis and mortality are identified, opportunities are available to enhance the clinical outcome of the infected patients. Thus, further clinical investigations and suitable protocols must be implemented for the proper use of antimicrobial drugs not only to combat infections, but also to prevent the spread of *P. aeruginosa* resistance genes.

Chapter Six

CONCLUSION

- This study showed the emergence of XDR in *P. aeruginosa* (except isolate PA43) against the antimicrobial drugs being routinely used for treatment.
- The average genome size ranged between 6,579,978-7,009,409 bp, G+C% content between 65.90-66.30% and number of contigs 116-396.
- The isolates belonged to the following sequence types: ST-233, ST-235, ST-296, ST-654, ST-1182 and ST-1233.
- Out of the 12 sequenced isolates, 56% of the isolates harboured *exoS* toxin gene and 39% the *exoU*, with one isolate having both (PA45) and two having none (PA28 and PA43). The fact that all the strains that were XDR were either positive for *exoU* or *exoS* is very alarming.
- PA45 is a unique strain in this study since it lacks both exotoxin genes but is XDR at the same time.
- Other virulence determinants present included: *lasI*, *lasR*, ampR β-lactamase regulator, *gacS*, *gacA*, *phoP* and *phoQ*.
- Although all the sequenced isolates carried *phoP* and *phoQ* genes (which confer resistance to polymyxin B, PA59 was the only strain found to be resistant to colistin which may be due to haboring a mutated *phoQ* gene.
- Out of the 12 sequenced isolates, 67% were negative for the oprD gene, 100% were positive for the ampG gene, 33% were positive for the mexA gene all of which confer carbapenem resistance.
- A large variety of the β-lactamase genes (*bla*_{PAO}, *bla*_{OXA-50}, *bla*_{OXA-4}, *bla*_{IMP-15}, *bla*_{GES-1} and/or *bla*_{VIM-2} genes) were detected in all the sequenced strains conferring carbapenem resistance.
- Our results showed that VIM-2 is the most dominant MBL implicated in imipenem resistant *P. aeruginosa* as supported by results of other studies and confers the greatest clinical threat.

- All sequenced isolates isolates harbored the *ftsK* gene, *mexR* and *nfxB* genes which are linked to fluoroquinolone resistance. In addition, all the 18 isolates carried *mexC* and *mexE* and were phenotypically resistant to ciprofloxacin.
- PA43 was the only strain that was susceptible to ciprofloxacin while harboring all three mex efflux genes simultaneously. This could be due to mutations producing non-functional proteins and the lack of promoters upstream of the site of insertion.
- In this study, *P. aeruginosa* isolates contained multiple aminoglycoside resistance genes, which is inconsistent with previous studies reporting that the majority of resistant isolates harbor only a single aminoglycoside-modifying gene
- The most frequent aminoglycoside-modifying enzyme detected in this study was the *aph(3')-IIb gene* conferring aminoglycoside resistance.
- PA43 carried three aminoglycoside resistance encoding genes but was still susceptible to the aminoglycosides tested. The exact reason for the sensitive phenotype of this strain is unknown.
- Eight plasmids were identified: phiCTX, YMC11/02/R656, F10, D3, PMG1, phi297, Bacter_Lily, Escher_vB_EcoM_EC01230_10 and Stenot_S1. phiCTX was the most common detected plasmid in this study, followed by YMC11/02/R656.
- Drug susceptibility testing and surveillance programs are required to monitor changes in drug resistance patterns and determine the incidence of XDR and virulent isolates to limit and prevent outbreaks of pathogenic *P. aeruginosa*.
- Further clinical investigations and suitable protocols must be implemented for the proper use of antimicrobial drugs not only to combat infections, but also to prevent the spread of *P. aeruginosa* resistance genes.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Adabi, M., Talebi-Taher, M., Arbabi, L., Afshar, M., Fathizadeh, S., Minaeian, S., ... Majidpour, A. (2015). Spread of Efflux Pump Overexpressing-Mediated Fluoroquinolone Resistance and Multidrug Resistance in *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa by using an Efflux Pump Inhibitor. Infection and Chemotherapy, 47(2), 98-104.
- Al Bayssari, C., Dabbousi, F., Hamze, M., & Rolain, J. (2015). Emergence of carbapenemase-producing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Acinetobacter baumannii* in livestock animals in Lebanon. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 70(3), 950-951.
- Al Bayssari, C., Diene, S., Loucif, L., Gupta, S., Dabboussi, F., Mallat, H., ... & Rolain, J. (2014). Emergence of VIM-2 and IMP-15 carbapenemases and inactivation of oprD gene in 2 carbapenem-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* clinical isolates from Lebanon. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 58(8), 4966-4970.
- Aziz, R. K., Bartels, D., Best, A. A., DeJongh, M., Disz, T., Edwards, R. A., ... Zagnitko, O. (2008). The RAST server: Rapid annotations using subsystems technology. *BMC Genomics*, 9(75). DOI: 10.1186/1471-2164-9-75.
- Balasubramanian, D., Kong, K. F., Jayawardena, S. R., Leal, S. M., Sautter, R. T., & Mathee, K. (2011). Co-regulation of β-lactam resistance, alginate production and quorum sensing in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 60(pt2), 147–156.
- Balasubramanian, D., Schneper, L., Merighi, M., Smith, R., Narasimhan, G., Lory, S., & Mathee, K. (2012). The regulatory repertoire of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* AmpC B-lactamase regulator AmpR includes virulence genes. *PLOS One*, 7(3): e34067. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0034067.
- Balasubramanian, D., Schneper, L., Kumari, H., & Mathee, K. (2013). A dynamic and intricate regulatory network determines *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* virulence. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 41(1), 1-20.
- Barbieri, A., Sha, Q., Bette-Bobillo, P., Stahl, P., & Vidal, M. (2001). ADPribosylation of Rab5 by ExoS of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* affects endocytosis. *Infection and Immunity*, 69(9), 5329-5334.
- Barrow, K., & Kwon, D. (2009). Alterations in two-component regulatory systems of phoPQ and pmrAB are associated with polymyxin B resistance in clinical isolates of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 53(12), 5150–5154.

- Battle, S., Meyer, F., Rello, J., Kung, V., & Hauser, A. (2008). Hybrid pathogenicity island PAGI-5 contributes to the highly virulent phenotype of a *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa isolate in mammals. Journal of Bacteriology, 190, 7130–7140.
- Bentzmann, S., & Plesait, P. (2011). The *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* opportunistic pathogen and human infections. *Environmental Microbiology*, 13(7), 1655-1665.
- Berube, B., Rangel, S., & Hauser, A. (2016). *Pseudomonas aerugisnosa*: breaking down barriers. *Current Genetics*, 62(1), 109–113.
- Bjarnsholt, T., Jensen, P., Jakobsen, T., Phipps, R., Nielsen, A., Rybtke, M., ... & Ciofu, O. (2010). Quorom sending and virulence of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* during lung infections of cystic fibrosis patients. *PLOS One*, 5(4): e10115. DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0010115.
- Blair, J., Webber, M., Baylay, A., Ogbolu, D., & Piddock, L. (2015). Molecular mechanisms of antibiotic resistance. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 13(1), 42-51.
- Bonomo, R. A., & Szabo, D. (2006). Mechanisms of multidrug resistance in Acinetobacter species and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 43(Suppl2), S49–S56.
- Breidenstein, E. B. M., Khaira, B. K., Wiegand, I., Overhage, J., & Hancock, R. E. W. (2008). Complex ciprofloxacin resistome revealed by screening a *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* mutant library for altered susceptibility. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 52(12), 4486–4491.
- Breidenstein, E., de la Fuente-Nunez, C., & Hancock, R. (2011). Pseudomonas aeruginosa: all roads lead to resistance. Trends in Microbiology, 19(8), 419-426.
- Cabot, G., Ocampo-Sosa, A., Dominguez, M., Gago, J., Juan, C., Tubau, F., ... & Oliver, A. (2012). Genetic markers of widespread extensively drugresistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* high-risk clones. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 56(12), 6349-6357.
- Carattoli, A., Zankari, E., García-Fernández, A., Larsen, M.V., Lund, O., Villa, L., et al (2014). In silico detection and typing of plasmids using PlasmidFinder and plasmid multilocus sequence typing. *Antimicrobial Agents Chemotherapy*, 58(7), 3895-3903. DOI: 10.1128/AAC.02412-14.
- Carmeli, Y., Troillet, N., Eliopoulos, & G., Samore, M. (1999). Emergence of antibiotic-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: comparison of risks associated with different antipseudomonal agents. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 43(6), 1379-1382.
- Carver, T., Thomson, N., Bleasby, A., Berriman, M., & Parkhill, J. (2009) DNAPlotter: Circular and linear interactive genome visualization. *Bioinformatics*, 25(1), 119-120.

- Castanheira, M., Deshpande, L., Costello, A., Davies, T., & Jones, R. (2014). Epidemiology and carbapenem resistance mechanisms of carbapenem-nonsusceptible *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* collected during 2009–11 in 14 European and Mediterranean countries. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 69 (7), 1804-1814.
- Cholley, P., Thouverez, M., Hocquet, D., van der mee-Marquet, N., Talon, D., & Bertrand, X. (2011). The majority of multi-drug resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolates from hospitals in eastern France belongs to a few clonal types. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 49(7), 2578–2583.
- Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI). Performance standards for antimicrobial susceptibility testing: 23rd informational supplement (M100-S23). Wayne, PA: CLSI; 2013.
- Coggan, K., & Wolfgang, M. (2012). Global regulatory pathways and cross-talk control *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* environmental lifestyle and virulence phenotype. *Current Issues in Molecular Biology*, 14(2), 47-70.
- Coil, D., Jospin, G., and Darling, A. (2015). A5-miseq: an updated pipeline to assemble microbial genomes from Illumina MiSeq data. *Bioinfo*, 31(4), 587-589. DOI: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btu661.
- Cornelis, P., & Dingemans, J. (2013). *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* adapts its iron uptake strategies in function of the type of infections. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 3(75). DOI: 10.3389/fcimb.2013.00075.
- Cosentino, S., Larsen, M. V., Aarestrup, F. M., & Lund, O. (2013). PathogenFinder distinguishing friend from foe using bacterial whole genome sequence data. *PLOS One*, 8(10): e77302. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0077302.
- Damron, F. H., & Goldberg, J. B. (2012). Proteolytic regulation of alginate overproduction in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Molecular Microbiology*, 84(4), 595–607.
- Darch, S., McNally, A., Harrison, F., Corander, J., Barr, H., Poszkiexicz, K., ... Holden, S. (2015). Recombination is a key driver of genomic and phenotypic diversity in a *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* population during cystic fibrosis infection. *Nature*. DOI: 10.1038/srep07649.
- De Bentzmann, S., & Plesait, P. (2011). The *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* opportunistic pathogen and human infections. *Environmental Microbiology*, 13(7), 1655-1665.
- Debarbieux, L., Leduc, D., Maura, D., Morello, E., Criscuolo, A., Grossi, O., ... & Touqui, L. (2010). Bacteriophages can treat and prevent *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa lung infections. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 201(7), 1096-1104.
- Diab, M., Fam, N., El-Said, M., El-Dabaa, E., El-Defrawy, I., & Saber, M. (2013). Occurrence of VIM-2 Metallo-β- Lactamases in imipenem resistant and

susceptible *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* clinical isolates from Egypt. *African Journal of Microbiology Research*, 7(35), 4465–4472.

- Duljasz, W., Gniadkowski, M., Sitter, S., Wojna, A., & Jebelean, C. (2009). First organisms with acquired metallo-b-lactamases (IMP-13, IMP-22, and VIM-2) reported in Austria. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 53(5), 2221–2222.
- Edalucci, E., Spinelli, R., Dolzani, L., Riccio, M., Dubois, V., Tonin, E., ... & Lagatolla, C. (2008). Acquisition of different carbapenem resistance mechanisms by an epidemic clonal lineage of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, 14(1), 88–90.
- Elias, J., Schoen, C., Heinze, G., Valenza, G., Gerharz, E., Gerharz, H., &Vogel, U. (2010). Nosocomial outbreak of VIM-2 metallo-β-lactamaseproducing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* associated with retrograde urography. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, 16(9), 1494–1500.
- El-Solh, A., Hattemer, A., Hauser, A., Alhajhusain, A., & Vora, H. (2012). Clinical outcomes of type III *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* bacteremia. *Critical Care Medicine*, 40(4), 1157–1163.
- Empel, J., Filczak, K., Mrowka, A., Hryniewicz, W., Livermore, D., & Gniadkowski, M. (2007). Outbreak of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infections with PER-1 extended-spectrum b-lactamase in Warsaw, Poland: further evidence for an international clonal complex. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 45(9), 2829– 2834.
- Fernandez, L., & Hancock, R. (2012). Adaptive and mutational resistance: role of porins and efflux pumps in drug resistance. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 25(4), 661-681.
- Flamm, R. K., Weaver, M. K., Thornsberry, C., Jones, M. E., Karlowsky, J. A., & Sahm, D. F. (2004). Factors associated with relative rates of antibiotic resistance in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolates tested in clinical laboratories in the United States from 1999 to 2002. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 48(7), 2431-2436.
- Fleiszig, S., Wiener-Kronish, J., Miyazaki, H., Vallas, V., Mostov, K., Kanada, D., ... & Frank, D. (1997). *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*-mediated cytotoxicity and invasion correlate with 229 distinct genotypes at the loci encoding exoenzyme S. *Infection and Immunity*, 65(2), 579-586.
- Fraylick, J., La Rocque, J., Vincent, T., & Olson, J. (2001). Independent and coordinate effects of ADP-ribosyltransferase and GTPase-activating activities of exoenzyme S on HT-29 epithelial cell function. *Infection and Immunity*, 69(9), 5318–5328.
- Gad, G., Mohamed, H., & Ashou, H. (2011). Aminoglycoside resistance rates, phenotypes, and mechanisms of gram-negative bacteria from infected patients

in upper Egypt. *PLOS One*, 6(2): e17224. DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0017224.

- Gellatly, S., & Hancock, R. (2013). *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: new insights into pathogenesis and host defenses. *Pathogens and Disease*, 67(3), 159-173.
- Gellatly, S., Needham, B., Madera, L., Trent, M., & Hancock, R. (2012). The *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PhoP-PhoQ two-component regulatory system is induced upon interaction with epithelial cells and controls cytotoxicity and inflammation. *Infection and Immunity*, 80(9), 3122–3131.
- Glupczynski, Y., Bogaerts, P., Deplano, A., Berhin, C., Huang, T., van Eldere, J. & Rodriguez-Villalobos, H. (2010). Detection and characterization of class A extended-spectrum-b-lactamaseproducing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolates in Belgian hospitals. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 65(5), 866– 871.
- Grant, J., & Stothard, P. (2008). The CGView Server: a comparative genomics tool for circular genomes. *The Nucleic Acids Research*, 1(36), W181-W184.
- Grissa, I., Vergnaud, G., & Pourcel, C. (2007). CRISPRFinder: A web tool to identify clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 35, W52-W57.
- Halat, D., Moubareck, C., & Sarkis, D. (2017). Heterogeneity of carbapenem resistance mechanisms among gram-negative pathogens in Lebanon: results of the first cross-sectional countrywide study. *Microbial Drug Resistance*. DOI: 10.1089/mdr.2016.0077.
- Hamouche, E., & Sarkis, D. (2012). Evolution of susceptibility to antibiotics of *Escherichia coli*, *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Acinetobacter baumanii*, in a University Hospital Center of Beirut between 2005 and 2009. *Pathologie Biologie*, 60(3), e15-20. DOI: 10.1016/j.patbio.2011.03.011.
- Harmsen, M., Yang, L., Pamp, S. J., & Tolker-Nielsen, T. (2010). An update on *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilm formation, tolerance, and dispersal. *FEMS Immunology and Medical Microbiology*, 59(3), 253–268.
- Hauser, A. (2009). The type III secretion system of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: infection by injection. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 7(9), 654-665.
- Hauser, R., & Engel, N. (1999). Pseudomonas aeruginosa induces type-III-secretion mediated 231 apoptosis of macrophages and epithelial cells. Infection and Immunity, 67, 5530–5537.
- Hoiby, N., Bjarnsholt, T., Givskov, M., Molin, S., & Ciofu, O. (2010). Antibiotic resistance of bacterial biofilms. *International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents*, 35, 322–332.

- Høiby, N., Bjarnsholt, T., Givskov, M., Molin, S., & Ciofu, O. (2010). Antibiotic resistance of bacterial biofilms. *International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents*, 45(4), 322-332.
- Horii, T., Muramatsu, H., Morita, M., & Maekawa, M. (2003). Characterization of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolates from patients with urinary tract infections during antibiotic therapy. *Microbial Drug Resistance*, 9(2), 223-229.
- Jimenez, P. N., Koch, G., Thompson, J. A., Xavier, K. B., Cool, R. H., & Quax, W. J. (2012). The multiple signaling systems regulating virulence in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Microbiology* and Molecular Biology Reviews, 76(1), 46–65.
- Joensen, K. G., Scheutz, F., Lund, O., Hasman, H., Kaas, R. S., Nielsen, E. M., & Aarestrup, F. M. (2014). Real-time whole-genome sequencing for routine typing, surveillance, and outbreak detection of verotoxigenic Escherichia coli. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 52(5), 1501-1510.
- Khalil, M., Ibrahim Sonbol, F., Mohamed, A., & Ali, S. (2015). Comparative study of virulence factors among ESBL-producing and nonproducing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* clinical isolates. *Turkish Journal of Medical Sciences*, 45(1), 60-69.
- Kim, J., Park, Y., Kwon, H., Han, K., Kang, M., & Woo, G. (2008). Occurrence and mechanisms of amikacin resistance and its association with β-lactamases in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: a Korean nationwide study. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 62(3), 479-483.
- Kim, S., Rahman, M., & Kim, J. (2011). Complete genome sequence of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* lytic bacteriophage PA10 which resembles template bacteriophage D3112. *American Society for Microbiology*, 3400-3401. DOI: 10.1128/JVI.07191-11.
- Kipnis, E., Sawa, T., & Weiner-Kronish, J. (2006). Targeting mechanisms of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* pathogenesis. *Medecine et Maladies Infectieuses*, 36(2), 78-91.
- Klemm, E., & Dougan, G. (2016). Advances in understanding bacterial pathogenesis gained from whole-genome sequencing and phylogenetics. *Cell Host and Microbe*, 19(5), 599–610. DOI: 10.1016/j.chom.2016.04.015.
- Klockgether, J., Cramer, N., Wiehlmann, L., Davenport, C., & Tümmler, B. (2011). *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* genomic structure and stability. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 2(150). DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2011.00150.
- Kong, K., Jayawardena, S., Indulkar, S., Del Puerto, A., Koh, C., Hoiby, N., & Mathee, K. (2005). *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* AmpR is a global transcriptional factor that regulates expression of AmpC and PoxB betalactamases, proteases, quorum sensing, and other virulence factors. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 49(11), 4567-4575.
- Kos, N., Deraspe, M., McLaughlin, R., Whiteaker, J., Roy, P., Alm, R., ... Corbeil, J. (2014). The Resistome of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in relationship to phenotypic susceptibility. *American Society for Microbiology*, 59(1), 427-436.
- Koser, C., Ellington, M., & Peacock, J. (2014). Whole-genome sequencing to control antimicrobial resistance. *Trends in Genetics*, 30(9), 401-407.
- Koutsogiannou, M., Drougka, E., Liakopoulos, A., Jelastopulu, E., Petinaki, E., Anastassiou, E., ... & Christofidoua, M. (2012). Spread of multidrug-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* clones in a university hospital. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 51(2), 665-668.
- Kumari, H., Balasubramanian, D., Zincke, D., & Mathee, K. (2014). Role of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* AmpR on b-lactam and non-b-lactam transient cross-resistance upon pre-exposure to subinhibitory concentrations of antibiotics. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 63(Pt 4), 544-555. DOI: 10.1099/jmm.0.070185-0.
- Kung, V., Ozer, E., & Hauser, A. (2010). The accessory genome of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews, 74(4), 621-641.
- Kwan, T., Liu, J., DuBow, M., Gros, P., & Pelletier, J. (2006). Comparative genomic analysis of 18 *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* bacteriophages. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 188(3), 1184-1187.
- Larsen, M. V., Cosentino, S., Rasmussen, S., Friis, C., Hasman, H., Marvig, R. L., ... Lund, O. (2012). Multilocus sequence typing of total genome sequenced bacteria. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 50(4), 1355-1361.
- Lauretti, L., Riccio, M., Mazzariol, A., Cornaglia, G., Amicosante, G., Fontana, R., ...& Rossolini, G. (1999). Cloning and characterization of blaVIM, a new integron-borne metallo-beta-lactamase gene from a *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* clinical isolate. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 43(7), 1584–1590.
- Le Berre, R., Nguyen, S., Nowak, E., Kipnis, E., Pierre, M., Quenee, L., ... & Faure, K. (2011). Relative contribution of three main virulence factors in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* pneumonia. *Critical Care Medicine*, 39(9), 2113-2120.
- Lee, J., & Zhang, L. (2015). The hierarchy quorum sensing network in *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa. Protein Cell, 6(1), 26-41.
- Lee, J., Chung, E., Na, I., Kim, H., Shin D., & Ko K. (2014). Development of colistin resistance in pmrA-, phoP-, parR- and cprR-inactivated mutants of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 69(11), 2966–2971.
- Lee, K., Kim, M., Kang, S., Kang, J., Kim, E., Choi, T., & Chong, Y. (2003). Korean nationwide surveillance of antimicrobial resistance in 2000 with special reference to vancomycin resistance in enterococci, and expanded-spectrum

cephalosporin and imipenem resistance in gram-negative bacilli. *Yonsei Medical Journal*, 44(4), 571-580.

- Lee, K., Lee, W., Uh, Y., Ha, G., Cho, J., & Chong, Y. (2003). VIM- and IMP-type metallo-β-lactamase–producing *Pseudomonas* spp. and *Acinetobacter* spp. in Korean hospitals. Emerging Infectious Diseases, 9(7), 868-871.
- Lee, V., Smith, R., Tümmler, B., & Lory, S. (2005). Activities of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa effectors secreted by the type III secretion system in vitro and during infection. Infection and Immunity, 73(3), 1695-1705.
- Lepsanovic, Z., Libisch, B., Tomanovic, B., Nonkovici, Z., Balogh, B., & Fuzi, M. (2008). Characterisation of the first VIM metallo-blactamase-producing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* clinical isolate in Serbia. Acta Microbiologica et Immunologica Hungarica, 55(4), 447–454.
- Liang, H., Deng, X., Ji, Q., Sun, F., Shen, T., & He, C. (2012). The *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa global regulator VqsR directly inhibits QscR to control quorumsensing and virulence gene expression. Journal of Bacteriology, 194(12), 3098–3108.
- Libisch, B., Poirel, L., Lepsanovic, Z., Mirovic, V., Balogh, B., Paszti, J., ... & Nordmann, P. (2008a) Identification of PER-1 extended-spectrum blactamase producing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* clinical isolates of the international clonal complex CC11 from Hungary and Serbia. *FEMS Immunology and Medical Microbiology*, 54(3), 330–338.
- Linares, J., Gustafsson, I., Baquero, F., & Martinez, J. (2006). Antibiotics as intermicrobial signaling agents instead of weapons. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103(51), 19484-19489.
- Livermore, D. M. (2002). Multiple mechanisms of antimicrobial resistance in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: our worst nightmare? *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 34(5), 634–640.
- Llanes, C., Hocquet, D., Vogne, C., Benali-Baitich, D., Neuwirth, C., & Plesiat, P. (2004). Clinical strains of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* overproducing MexAB-OprM and MexXY efflux pumps simultaneously. *Antimicrobial Agents Chemotherapy*, 48(5), 1797-802.
- Llanes, C., Kohler, T., Patry, I., Dehecq, B., van Delden, C., & Plesiat, P. (2011). Role of the MexEF-OprN efflux system in low-level resistance of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* to ciprofloxacin. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 55(12), 5676–5684.
- Loman, N., & Pallen, M. (2015). Twenty years of bacterial genome sequencing. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 13(12), 787–794. DOI: 10.1038/nrmicro 3565.
- Magiorakos, A., Srinivasan, A., Carey, R., Carmeli, Y., Falagas, M., Giske, C., ... & Monnet, D. (2011). Multidrug-resistant, extensively drug-resistant and

pandrug-resistant bacteria: an international expert proposal for interim standard definitions for acquired resistance. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, 18(3), 268-281.

- Mansour, S., Eldaly, O., Fatani, A., Mohamed, M., & Ibrahim, E. (2013). Epidemiological characterization of *P. aeruginosa* isolates of intensive care units in Egypt and Saudi Arabia. *East Mediterranean Health Journal*, 19(1), 71–80.
- Martineau, F., Picard, F., Grenier, L., Roy, P., Ouellette, M., & Bergeron, M. (2000). Multiplex PCR assays for the detection of clinically relevant antibiotic resistance genes in staphylococci isolated from patients infected after cardiac surgery. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 46(4), 527–534.
- Marvig, R., Johansen, H., Molin, S., & Jelsbak, L. (2013). Genome Analysis of Transmissable Lineage of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* reveals pathoadaptive mutations and distinct evolutionary paths of hypermutators. *PLOS One*, 9(9): e1003741. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1003741.
- Mataseje, L., Peirano, G., Church, D., Conly, J., Mulvey, M., & Pitout, J. (2016). Colistin-nonsusceptible *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* sequence type 654 with blaNDM-1 arrives in North America. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 60(3), 1794-1800.
- Miller, A., Brannon, M., Stevens, L., Johansen, H., Selgrade, S., Miller, S., ... & Moskowitz, S. (2011). PhoQ mutations promote lipid A modification and polymyxin resistance of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* found in colistin-treated cystic fibrosis patients. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 55(12), 5761–5769.
- Miller, G., Sabatelli, F., Hare, R., Glupczynski, Y., Mackey, P., Shlaes, D., ... & Shaw, K. (1997). The most frequent aminoglycoside resistance mechanism changes with time and geographic area: a reflection of aminoglycoside usage patterns? *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 24(Suppl. 1), S46–S62.
- Mitov, I., Strateva, T., & Markova, B. (2010). Prevalence of virulence genes among Bulgarian nosocomial and cystic fibrosis isolates of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Brazilian Journal of Microbiology*, 41(3), 588-595.
- Miyoshi-Akiyama, T., Kuwahara, T., Tada, T., Kitao, T., & Kirikae, T. (2011). Complete genome sequence of highly multidrug-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* NCGM2.S1, a representative strain of a cluster endemic to Japan. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 193(24), 7010.
- Moker, N., Dean, C., & Tao, J. (2010). *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* increases formation of multidrug-tolerant persister cells in response to quorum-sensing signaling molecules. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 192(7), 1946-1955.
- Morello, E., Sausserea, E., Maura, D., Huerre, M., Touqui L., & Debarbieux, L. (2011). Pulmonary bacteriophage therapy on *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* cystic

fibrosis strains: first steps towards treatment and prevention. *PLOS One*, 6(2): e16963. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0016963.

- Morita, Y., Tomida, J., & Kawamura, Y. (2015). Efflux-mediated fluoroquinolone resistance in the multidrug-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* clinical isolate PA7: identification of a novel MexS variant involved in upregulation of the *mexEF-oprN* multidrug efflux operon. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 6(8). DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.00008.
- Mulcahy, H., Charron-Mazenod, L., & Lewenza, S. (2008). Extracellular DNA chelates cations and induces antibiotic resistance in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms. *PLOS Pathogens*, 4(11), 1-12.
- Nasreen, M., Sarker, A., Malek, M., Ansaruzzaman, M., & Rahman, M. (2015). Prevalence and resistance pattern of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolated from surface water. *Advances in Microbiology*, 8(5), 74-81.
- Nunney, I., Elfekih, S., & Stouthamer, R. (2012). The importance of multilocus sequence typing: cautionary tales from the bacterium *Xylella fastidiosa*. *Phytopathology*, 102(5), 456-460.
- Overbeek, R., Olson, R., Pusch, G. D., Olsen, G. J., Davis, J. J., Disz, T., ... Stevens, R. (2014). The SEED and the Rapid Annotation of microbial genomes using Subsystems Technology (RAST). *Nucleic Acids Research*, 42, 206-214.
- Overhage, J., Bains, M., Brazas, M., & Hancock, R. (2008). Swarming of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* is a complex adaptation leading to increased production of virulence factors and antibiotic resistance. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 190(8), 2671-2679.
- Pasteran, F., Mendez, T., Guerriero, L., Rapoport, M., & Corso, A. (2009). Sensitive screening tests for suspected class A carbapenemase production in species of Enterobacteriaceae. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 47(6), 1631–1639.
- Pederson, K., & Barbieri, J. (1998). Intracellular expression of the ADPribosyltransferase domain of *Pseudomonas* exoenzyme S is cytotoxic to eukaryotic cells. *Molecular Microbiology*, 30(4), 751–759.
- Poirel, L., Weldhagen, G., Naas, T., De Champs, C., Dove, M., & Nordmann ,P. (2001). GES-2, a class A beta-lactamase from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* with increased hydrolysis of imipenem. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 45(9), 2598-2603.
- Poole, K. (2000). Efflux-mediated resistance to fluoroquinolones in gram negative bacteria. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 44(9), 2233-2241.
- Poole, K. (2001), Multidrug efflux pumps and antimicrobial resistance in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and related organisms. *Journal of Molecular Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 3(2), 255-264.
- Poole, K. (2011). Pseudomonas aeruginosa: resistance to the max. Frontiers in Microbiology, 2(65). DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2011.00065.

- Poole, K., & McKay, G. A. (2003). Iron acquisition and its control in *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa: many roads lead to Rome. Frontiers in Bioscience, 8, d661– d686.
- Poonsuk, K., Tribuddharat, C., & Chuanchuen, R. (2013). Aminoglycoside resistance mechanisms in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolates from non-cystic fibrosis patients in Thailand. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 59(1), 51-56.
- Poonsuk, K., Tribuddharat, C., & Chuanchuen, R. (2014). Simultaneous overexpression of multidrug efflux pumps in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* noncystic fibrosis clinical isolates. *NRC Research Press*, 60(7), 437-443.
- Queenan, A., & Bush, K. (2007). Carbapenemases: the versatile beta-lactamases. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 20(3), 440-458.
- Robinson, E., Walker, T., & Pallen, M. (2013). Genomics and outbreak investigation: from sequence to consequence. *Genome Medicine*, 5(36). DOI: 10.1186/gm440.
- Rocha, C., Coburn, J., Rucks, E., & Olson, J. (2003). Characterization of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* exoenzyme S as a bifunctional enzyme in J774A. 1 macrophages. *Infection and Immunity*, 71(9), 5296–5305.
- Roy, P., Tetu, S., Larouche, A., Elbourne, L., Tremblay, S., Ren, Q., ... & Paulsen, I. (2010). Complete genome sequence of the multiresistant taxonomic outlier *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PA7. *PLOS One*, 5(1): e8842. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0008842.
- Salabi, A., Toleman, M., Weeks, J., Bruderer, T., Frei, R., & Walsh, T. (2010). First report of the metallo-beta-lactamase SPM-1 in Europe. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 54(1), 582. DOI: 10.1128/AAC.00719-09.
- Salma, R., Dabboussi, F., Kassaa, I., Khudary R., & Hamze, M. (2013). gyrA and parC mutations in quinolone-resistant clinical isolates of Pseudomonas aeruginosa from Nini Hospital in north Lebanon. Journal of Infection and Chemotherapy, 19(1), 77-81.
- Salma, R., Dabboussi, F., Kassaa, I., Khudary, R., & Hamze, M. (2012). gyrA and parC Mutations in Quinolone-Resistant Clinical Isolates of Pseudomonas aeruginosa from Nini Hospital in North Lebanon. International Journal of Microbiological Research, 3(2), 82-86.
- Sampedro, I., Parales, R. E., Krello, T., & Hill. J. (2015). Pseudomonas chemotaxis. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, 39(1), 17-46.
- Samuelsen, O., Buaro, L., Toleman, M., Giske, C., Hermansen, N., Walsh, T., & Sundsfjord, A. (2009). The first metallo-β-lactamase identified in Norway is associated with a TniC-like transposon in a *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolate of sequence type 233 imported from Ghana. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 53(1), 331–332.

- Sawa, T., Shimizu, M., Moriyama, K., and Wiener-Kronish, J. (2014). Association between *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* type III secretion, antibiotic resistance, and clinical outcome: a review. *Critical Care*, 18(6), 668. DOI: 10.1186/s13054-014-0668-9.
- Schurek, K., Sampaio, J., Kiffer, C., Sinto, S., Mendes, C., & Hancock, R. (2009). Involvement of pmrAB and phoPQ in polymyxin B adaptation and inducible resistance in non-cystic fibrosis clinical isolates of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 53(10), 4345–4351.
- Sedighi, M., Safiri, S., Pirouzi, S., Jayasinghe, H., Sepidarkish, K., & Fouladseresht, H. (2015). Detection and determination of the antibiotic resistance patterns in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strains isolated from clinical specimens in hospitals of Isfahan, Iran, 2012. *Scimetr*; 3(1): e21133. doi: 10.5812/scimetr.21133.
- Senda, K., Arakawa, Y., Nakashima, K., Ito, H., Ichiyama, S., Shimokata, K., ... & Ohta, M. (1996). Multifocal outbreaks of metallo-beta-lactamase-producing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* resistant to broad-spectrum beta-lactams, including carbapenems. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 40(2), 349–353.
- Shaver, C., & Hauser, A. (2004). Relative contributions of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* ExoU, ExoS, and ExoT to virulence in the lung. *Infection and immunity*, 72(12), 6969–6977.
- Shevchenko, O. & Edelstein, M. (2007). Epidemic population structure of MBLproducing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in Russia. Program and Abstracts of the 47th Interscience Conference on Antimicrobial Agents & Chemotherapy.
- Sianou, E., Kristo, I., Petridis, M., Apostolidis, K., Meletis, G., Miyakis, S., ... & Sofianou, D. (2012). A cautionary case of microbial solidarity: concurrent isolation of VIM-1-producing *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, *Escherichia coli* and *Enterobacter cloacae* from an infected wound. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 67(1), 244-246.
- Slekovec, C., Plantin, J., Cholley, P., Thouverez, M., Talon, D., Bertrand, X., & Hocquet, D. (2012). Tracking Down Antibiotic-Resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Isolates in a Wastewater Network. *PLOS One*, 7(12). DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0049300.
- Snyder, L., Loman, N., Faraj, L., Levi, K., Welnstock, G., Boswell, T., ... & Ala'Aldeen, D. (2013). Epidemiological investigation of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa isolates from a six-year-long hospital outbreak using highthroughput whole genome sequencing. *Eurosurveillance*, 18(42): pii: 20611.
- Sriramulu, D., Nimtz, M., & Romling, U. (2005). Proteome analysis reveals adaptation of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* to the cystic fibrosis lung environment. *Proteomics*, 5(14), 3712–3721.

Subsystems Technology (RAST). Nucleic Acids Research, 42, 206-214.

Sun, H., Fujitani, S., Quintiliani, R., & Yu, V. (2010). Pneumonia due to *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. CHEST*, 139(5), 1172-1185.

- Sun, H., Fujitani, S., Quintiliani, R., & Yu, V. (2011). Pneumonia due to *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* part II: antimicrobial resistance, pharmacodynamic concepts, and antibiotic therapy. *Chest*, 139(5), 1172-1185.
- Tavajjohi, Z., Moniri, R., & Khorshidi, A. (2011). Detection and characterization of resistance and extended spectrum β-lactamase producing (ESBL) *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolates in a teaching hospital. *African Journal of Microbiology Research*, 5(20), 3223-2328.
- Teixeira, B., Rodulfo, H., Carreño, N., Guzmán, M., Salazar, E., & De Donato, M. (2016). Aminoglycoside resistance genes in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolates from Cumana, Venezuela. *Journal of the São Paulo Institute of Tropical Medicine*, 58(13). DOI: 10.1590/S1678-9946201658013.
- Tokajian, S., Eisen, J., Jospin, G., Farra, A., & Coli, D. (2015). Whole genome sequencing of extended-spectrum β-lactamase producing *Klebsiella pneumoniae* isolated from a patient in Lebanon. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 5(32). DOI: 10.3389/fcimb.2015.00032.
- Tokajian, S., Timani, R., Issa, N., & Araj, G. (2012). Molecular characterization, multiple drug resistance, and virulence determinants of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa isolated from Lebanon. British Microbiology Research Journal, 2(4), 243-250.
- Tritt, A., Eisen, J., Facciotti, M., & Darling, A. (2012). An Integrated Pipeline for de Novo Assembly of Microbial Genomes. *PLOS One*, 7(9): e42304.
- Tsutsui, A., Suzuki, S., Yamane, K., Matsui, M., Konda, T., Marui, E., ... & Arakawa, Y. (2011). Genotypes and infection sites in an outbreak of multidrug-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Journal of Hospital Infections*, 78(4), 317–322.
- Vaziri, F., Peerayeh, S., Nejad, Q., & Farhadian, A. (2011). The prevalence of aminoglycoside-modifying enzyme genes (aac (6')-I, aac (6')-II, ant (2")-I, aph (3')-VI) in Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Clinics(Sao Paulo), 66(9), 1519-1522.
- Viedma, E., Juan, C., Acosta, J., Zamorano, L., Otero, J., Sanz, F., ... & Oliver, A. (2009). Nosocomial spread of colistin only- sensitive sequence type 235 *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Isolates producing the extended-spectrum βlactamases GES-1 and GES-5 in Spain. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 53(11), 4930-4933.
- Walsh, T., Li, H., Toleman, M., Bennett, P., & Jones, R. (2008). Complete sequence of p 07–406, a 24,179-base-pair plasmid harboring the blaVIM-7 metallo-βlactamase gene in a *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolate from the United States. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 52(9), 3099-3105. DOI: 10.1128/AAC.01093-07.

- Walsh, T., Toleman, M., Poirel, L., & Nordmann, P. (2005). Metallo-betalactamases: the quiet before the storm? Clinical Microbiology Reviews, 18(2), 306-325.
- Wang, Y., Wang, X., Schwarz, S., Zhang, R., Lei, L., Liu, X., ... & Shen, J. (2014). IMP-45-producing multidrug-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* of canine origin. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 69(9), 2579-2581.
- Watanabe, M., Iyobe, S., Inoue, M., & Mitsuhashi, S. (1991). Transferable imipenem resistance in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 35(1), 147–151.
- Winstanley, C., Langille, M., Fothergill, J., Kukavica-Ibrulj, I., Paradis-Bleau, C., Sanschagrin, F., ...& Levesque, R. (2009). Newly introduced genomic prophage islands are critical determinants of in vivo competitiveness in the Liverpool epidemic strain of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Genome Research*, 19(1), 12–23.
- Wong, A., Rodrigue, N., & Kassen, R. (2012). Genomics of adaptation during experimental evolution of the opportunistic pathogen *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa. *PLOS One*, 8(9): e1002928. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1002928.
- Wong-Beringer, A., Wiener-Kronish, J., Lynch, S., & Flanagan, J. (2008). Comparison of type III secretion system virulence among fluoroquinolonesusceptible and -resistant clinical isolates of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa.Clinical Microbiology and Infection; 14(4), 330-336.
- Woodford, N., Turton, J., & Livermore, D. (2011). Multiresistant Gram-negative bacteria: the role of high-riskclones in the dissemination of antibiotic resistance. *Federation of European Microbiological Societies*, 35(5), 736-755.
- Workentine, M., Sibley, C., Glezerson, B., Purighalla, S., Norgaard-Gron, J., Parkins, M., ... Surette, M. (2013). Phenotypic heterogeneity of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* populations in a cystic fibrosis patient. *PLOS One*, 8(4): e60225. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.006022.
- Wright, L., Turton, J., Hopkins, K., Livermore, D., & Woodford, N. (2015). Genetic environment of metallo-β-lactamase genes in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolates from the UK. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 70 (12), 3250-3258.
- Zafer, M., Al-Agamy, M., El-Mahallawy, H., Amin, M., & Ashour, S. (2015). Dissemination of VIM-2 producing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* ST233 at tertiary care hospitals in Egypt. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 12(15), 122. DOI: 10.1186/s12879-015-0861.
- Zankari, E., Hasman, H., Cosentino, S., Vestergaard, M., Rasmussen, S., Lund, O., ... Larsen, M. V. (2012). Identification of acquired antimicrobial resistance genes. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 67(11), 2640-2644.

Zhou, Y., Liang, Y., Lynch, H. K., Dennis, J. J., & Wishart, D. S. (2011). PHAST: A fast phage search tool. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 39(2), 347-352.

ANNEX I

6.1. Circular Images



Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA9

Figure 1. Circular map of *P. aeruginosa* PA9 genome. Circular representation of the PA59 genome; from outside to inside, the tracks display the following information: CDSs of PA59 on the forward stand (red), CDSs of PA59 on the reverse stand (blue), rRNAs (prurple), tRNAs (green), GC plot and GC skew with above mean value (grey) and below mean value (black).



Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA15

Figure 2. Circular map of *P. aeruginosa* PA15 genome. Circular representation of the PA59 genome; from outside to inside, the tracks display the following information: CDSs of PA59 on the forward stand (red), CDSs of PA59 on the reverse stand (blue), rRNAs (prurple), tRNAs (green), GC plot and GC skew with above mean value (grey) and below mean value (black).



Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA16

Figure 3. Circular map of *P. aeruginosa* PA16 genome. Circular representation of the PA59 genome; from outside to inside, the tracks display the following information: CDSs of PA59 on the forward stand (red), CDSs of PA59 on the reverse stand (blue), rRNAs (prurple), tRNAs (green), GC plot and GC skew with above mean value (grey) and below mean value (black).



Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA28

Figure 4. Circular map of *P. aeruginosa* PA28 genome. Circular representation of the PA59 genome; from outside to inside, the tracks display the following information: CDSs of PA59 on the forward stand (red), CDSs of PA59 on the reverse stand (blue), rRNAs (prurple), tRNAs (green), GC plot and GC skew with above mean value (grey) and below mean value (black).



Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA43

Figure 5. Circular map of *P. aeruginosa* PA43 genome. Circular representation of the PA59 genome; from outside to inside, the tracks display the following information: CDSs of PA59 on the forward stand (red), CDSs of PA59 on the reverse stand (blue), rRNAs (prurple), tRNAs (green), GC plot and GC skew with above mean value (grey) and below mean value (black).



Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA45

Figure 6. Circular map of *P. aeruginosa* PA45 genome. Circular representation of the PA59 genome; from outside to inside, the tracks display the following information: CDSs of PA59 on the forward stand (red), CDSs of PA59 on the reverse stand (blue), rRNAs (prurple), tRNAs (green), GC plot and GC skew with above mean value (grey) and below mean value (black).



Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA53

Figure 7. Circular map of *P. aeruginosa* PA53 genome. Circular representation of the PA59 genome; from outside to inside, the tracks display the following information: CDSs of PA59 on the forward stand (red), CDSs of PA59 on the reverse stand (blue), rRNAs (prurple), tRNAs (green), GC plot and GC skew with above mean value (grey) and below mean value (black).



Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA120

Figure 8. Circular map of *P. aeruginosa* PA120 genome. Circular representation of the PA59 genome; from outside to inside, the tracks display the following information: CDSs of PA59 on the forward stand (red), CDSs of PA59 on the reverse stand (blue), rRNAs (prurple), tRNAs (green), GC plot and GC skew with above mean value (grey) and below mean value (black).



Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA132

Figure 9. Circular map of *P. aeruginosa* PA132 genome. Circular representation of the PA59 genome; from outside to inside, the tracks display the following information: CDSs of PA59 on the forward stand (red), CDSs of PA59 on the reverse stand (blue), rRNAs (prurple), tRNAs (green), GC plot and GC skew with above mean value (grey) and below mean value (black).



Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA141

Figure 10. Circular map of *P. aeruginosa* PA141 genome. Circular representation of the PA59 genome; from outside to inside, the tracks display the following information: CDSs of PA59 on the forward stand (red), CDSs of PA59 on the reverse stand (blue), rRNAs (magenta), tRNAs (brown), GC plot and GC skew with positive value (green) and negative value (purple).



Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA59

Figure 11. Circular map of *P. aeruginosa* PA152 genome. Circular representation of the PA59 genome; from outside to inside, the tracks display the following information: CDSs of PA59 on the forward stand (red), CDSs of PA59 on the reverse stand (blue), rRNAs (magenta), tRNAs (brown), GC plot and GC skew with positive value (green) and negative value (purple).



Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA155

Figure 12. Circular map of *P. aeruginosa* PA155 genome. Circular representation of the PA59 genome; from outside to inside, the tracks display the following information: CDSs of PA59 on the forward stand (red), CDSs of PA59 on the reverse stand (blue), rRNAs (magenta), tRNAs (brown), GC plot and GC skew with positive value (green) and negative value (purple).



Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA9

Figure 13. Comparative circular map of *P. aeruginosa* PA9 genome BLASTed against the genome of reference strain PAO1. This graphical representation of the genome was generated using CGview server V 1.0 (Grant & Stothard, 2008). Circular representation of the PA59 genome; from outside to inside, the tracks display the following information: clockwise CDSs, anticlockwise CDSs, *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 BLAST comparison, GC content and GC skew. The BLASTN alignment tracks displays white regions which indicate parts of the input sequence that did not yield a BLAST hit. Regions with a little pink/green color represents parts of the input sequence that yield one blast hit. Regions with a dark pink/green color indicate numerous BLAST hits which are commonly attributed to rRNAs or tRNAs.



Then, GC plot and GC skew with positive value (green) and negative value (purple) are shown.

Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA15

Figure 14. Comparative circular map of *P. aeruginosa* PA15 genome BLASTed against the genome of reference strain PAO1. This graphical representation of the genome was generated using CGview server V 1.0 (Grant & Stothard, 2008). Circular representation of the PA59 genome; from outside to inside, the tracks display the following information: clockwise CDSs, anticlockwise CDSs, *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 BLAST comparison, GC content and GC skew. The BLASTN alignment tracks displays white regions which indicate parts of the input sequence that did not yield a BLAST hit. Regions with a little pink/green color represents parts

of the input sequence that yield one blast hit. Regions with a dark pink/green color indicate numerous BLAST hits which are commonly attributed to rRNAs or tRNAs. Then, GC plot and GC skew with positive value (green) and negative value (purple) are shown.



Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA16

Figure 15. Comparative circular map of *P. aeruginosa* PA16 genome BLASTed against the genome of reference strain PAO1. This graphical representation of the genome was generated using CGview server V 1.0 (Grant & Stothard, 2008). Circular representation of the PA59 genome; from outside to inside, the tracks display the following information: clockwise CDSs, anticlockwise CDSs, *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 BLAST comparison, GC content and GC skew. The BLASTN

alignment tracks displays white regions which indicate parts of the input sequence that did not yield a BLAST hit. Regions with a little pink/green color represents parts of the input sequence that yield one blast hit. Regions with a dark pink/green color indicate numerous BLAST hits which are commonly attributed to rRNAs or tRNAs. Then, GC plot and GC skew with positive value (green) and negative value (purple) are shown.



Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA28

Figure 16. Comparative circular map of *P. aeruginosa* PA28 genome BLASTed against the genome of reference strain PAO1. This graphical representation of the genome was generated using CGview server V 1.0 (Grant & Stothard, 2008).

Circular representation of the PA59 genome; from outside to inside, the tracks display the following information: clockwise CDSs, anticlockwise CDSs, *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 BLAST comparison, GC content and GC skew. The BLASTN alignment tracks displays white regions which indicate parts of the input sequence that did not yield a BLAST hit. Regions with a little pink/green color represents parts of the input sequence that yield one blast hit. Regions with a dark pink/green color indicate numerous BLAST hits which are commonly attributed to rRNAs or tRNAs. Then, GC plot and GC skew with positive value (green) and negative value (purple) are shown.



Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA43

Figure 17. Comparative circular map of *P. aeruginosa* PA43 genome BLASTed against the genome of reference strain PAO1. This graphical representation of the genome was generated using CGview server V 1.0 (Grant & Stothard, 2008). Circular representation of the PA59 genome; from outside to inside, the tracks display the following information: clockwise CDSs, anticlockwise CDSs, *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 BLAST comparison, GC content and GC skew. The BLASTN alignment tracks displays white regions which indicate parts of the input sequence that did not yield a BLAST hit. Regions with a little pink/green color represents parts of the input sequence that yield one blast hit. Regions with a dark pink/green color indicate numerous BLAST hits which are commonly attributed to rRNAs or tRNAs. Then, GC plot and GC skew with positive value (green) and negative value (purple) are shown.



Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA45

Figure 18. Comparative circular map of *P. aeruginosa* PA45 genome BLASTed against the genome of reference strain PAO1. This graphical representation of the genome was generated using CGview server V 1.0 (Grant & Stothard, 2008). Circular representation of the PA59 genome; from outside to inside, the tracks display the following information: clockwise CDSs, anticlockwise CDSs, *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 BLAST comparison, GC content and GC skew. The BLASTN alignment tracks displays white regions which indicate parts of the input sequence that did not yield a BLAST hit. Regions with a little pink/green color represents parts of the input sequence that yield one blast hit. Regions with a dark pink/green color indicate numerous BLAST hits which are commonly attributed to rRNAs or tRNAs.

Then, GC plot and GC skew with positive value (green) and negative value (purple) are shown.



Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA120

Figure 19. Comparative circular map of *P. aeruginosa* PA120 genome BLASTed against the genome of reference strain PAO1. This graphical representation of the genome was generated using CGview server V 1.0 (Grant & Stothard, 2008). Circular representation of the PA59 genome; from outside to inside, the tracks display the following information: clockwise CDSs, anticlockwise CDSs, *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 BLAST comparison, GC content and GC skew. The BLASTN alignment tracks displays white regions which indicate parts of the input sequence

that did not yield a BLAST hit. Regions with a little pink/green color represents parts of the input sequence that yield one blast hit. Regions with a dark pink/green color indicate numerous BLAST hits which are commonly attributed to rRNAs or tRNAs. Then, GC plot and GC skew with positive value (green) and negative value (purple) are shown.



Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA132

Figure 20. Comparative circular map of *P. aeruginosa* PA132 genome BLASTed against the genome of reference strain PAO1. This graphical representation of the genome was generated using CGview server V 1.0 (Grant & Stothard, 2008). Circular representation of the PA59 genome; from outside to inside, the tracks display the following information: clockwise CDSs, anticlockwise CDSs, *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 BLAST comparison, GC content and GC skew. The BLASTN

alignment tracks displays white regions which indicate parts of the input sequence that did not yield a BLAST hit. Regions with a little pink/green color represents parts of the input sequence that yield one blast hit. Regions with a dark pink/green color indicate numerous BLAST hits which are commonly attributed to rRNAs or tRNAs. Then, GC plot and GC skew with positive value (green) and negative value (purple) are shown.



Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA152

Figure 21. Comparative circular map of *P. aeruginosa* PA152 genome BLASTed against the genome of reference strain PAO1. This graphical representation of the genome was generated using CGview server V 1.0 (Grant & Stothard, 2008). Circular representation of the PA59 genome; from outside to inside, the tracks display the following information: clockwise CDSs, anticlockwise CDSs, *P.*

aeruginosa PAO1 BLAST comparison, GC content and GC skew. The BLASTN alignment tracks displays white regions which indicate parts of the input sequence that did not yield a BLAST hit. Regions with a little pink/green color represents parts of the input sequence that yield one blast hit. Regions with a dark pink/green color indicate numerous BLAST hits which are commonly attributed to rRNAs or tRNAs. Then, GC plot and GC skew with positive value (green) and negative value (purple) are shown.



Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA155

Figure 22. Comparative circular map of *P. aeruginosa* PA155 genome BLASTed against the genome of reference strain PAO1. This graphical representation of the genome was generated using CGview server V 1.0 (Grant & Stothard, 2008).

Circular representation of the PA59 genome; from outside to inside, the tracks display the following information: clockwise CDSs, anticlockwise CDSs, *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 BLAST comparison, GC content and GC skew. The BLASTN alignment tracks displays white regions which indicate parts of the input sequence that did not yield a BLAST hit. Regions with a little pink/green color represents parts of the input sequence that yield one blast hit. Regions with a dark pink/green color indicate numerous BLAST hits which are commonly attributed to rRNAs or tRNAs. Then, GC plot and GC skew with positive value (green) and negative value (purple) are shown.